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who we are
Since 1989 Kids Under Cover has committed to supporting 
vulnerable young people between the ages of 12 and 25. 

We respond to the needs of young people at risk of becoming 
homeless due to extreme conflict or overcrowding within the family 
home, mental health issues and the housing affordability crisis.

Our approach is simple and focuses on early intervention to prevent 
youth homelessness.

our solution is to:
• Build one- or two-bedroom studios (with bathroom) in the 

backyards of homes to keep young people connected to family.

• Provide scholarships to ensure ongoing engagement with education.

We believe accommodation and education help young people stay 
connected to their family, to education and to their community. 
Studios offer safe and secure accommodation, provide additional 
room for the family and, coupled with a scholarship, young people  
are given the skills to become independent adults. 
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our vision
Where no young person in our 
community is homeless.

our mission
Providing young people at 
risk of homelessness the 
foundations to strengthen their 
connection to family, community 
and education and make a 
lasting difference in their lives.

our values
• Empathy

• Collaboration

• Resilience

• Engagement

• Integrity
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I’m delighted to share with you the 2016 Kids Under Cover Annual Report.

The year saw exceptional demand for our programs and services which are focused  
on preventing youth homelessness and helping young people build brighter futures. 

But we can only undertake this critical work thanks to the support of the Victorian  
State Government, our corporate partners, trusts and foundations, and individual 
donors. On behalf of everyone at Kids Under Cover, and the hundreds of young people  
who we supported throughout the year, thank you for making a real difference.

During the year, Kids Under Cover ensured strong governance and financial 
management, which is so important in the tough economic environment. This strong 
foundation provides the platform for future growth to enable Kids Under Cover to  
help even more young people.

On behalf of the board, I would like to thank everyone who has helped make everything 
happen; from volunteers and to building crews, to partners, supporters and donors  
who enable us to do what we do. We genuinely could not do it without you. 

And finally, thanks to the amazing team at Kids Under Cover. You are an exceptional  
team of talented, passionate and caring people that, every day, makes big steps 
towards a community where no young person is homeless.

Andy Coleman

message from 
the chair
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For 27 years Kids Under Cover has been working to prevent youth 
homelessness. I am extremely fortunate to have been a part of this work  
for 14 years and I am still as driven as ever to fight for the young people  
who desperately need our help. 

I look back at the past 12 months with an enormous amount of pride in our 
achievements and direction in which the board and team are heading. I am proud  
that we have been able to make a difference to 629 at risk young people this year,  
by building 62 new studios and awarding 130 scholarships. 

Although we still have a way to go in raising our profile within the wider community, 
our programs remain in high demand. Sadly, the number of young people at risk 
of becoming homeless continues to surge and the number of young people now 
considered homeless is greater than ever. 

Young people are not leaving home just because they don’t like the rules; there are 
a multitude of complex reasons that lead to a young person becoming homeless. 
Homelessness continues to be a major problem in Australia with children and young 
people making up almost 50% of the overall homeless population. There is still a great 
deal of work to do in prevention.

Our investment in the young people we support through our Studio Program has 
increased in recent times from 3.75 years to 5 years. This is due to increased housing 
shortages and housing affordability resulting in our studios being in place for longer  
at each location.

One of the largest and most significant pieces of work conducted during this financial 
year has been our Social Return on Investment (SROI) analysis undertaken by EY (Ernst 
& Young). This report is based on results achieved by surveying and interviewing a 
percentage of the young people and their carers, whom we have supported through 
our Studio and Scholarship Programs. This helps us to measure and value the social 
impact of our work and better understand the outcomes. The first half results are 
highlighted within this annual report. The full results will be offered as a stand-alone 
report which will include greater detail of the impact of our work, how change is being 
created within society and provide a monetary value on that change. Copies will be 
available in early 2017.

We have also conducted a large scale investigation into the potential to expand our 
Studio Program into other states, by testing the market with a number of studios on 
the ground in QLD, NSW and ACT. This trial process has provided us with significant 

message from 
the ceo

learnings and has identified a number of challenges to overcome. The greatest 
challenge we face in our expansion sits with the differing building regulations in  
each state. We understand the need for expansion of our vital services and will 
continue to explore opportunities. 

Taking effect in January 2016, the Victorian Government introduced compulsory 
minimum standards for organisations that provide services for children to help protect 
them from abuse. Education, awareness raising, and helping organisations to create 
and maintain child safe environments are the initial focus of the Child Safe Standards. 
In line with these new standards, Kids Under Cover developed our Child Safe Policy and 
Child Safe Code of Conduct, and introduced a variety of other measures to ensure that 
our staff, builders, contractors, and volunteers also adhere to these safe standards.

These new regulations are simply ratifying a policy already practiced within the 
organisation. It is our job as a community to protect children, and we commit 
wholeheartedly to these standards.

In 2015 the Minister for Housing, Hon Martin Foley, committed to providing an annual 
three-year funding agreement. This funding will see the provision of 22 studio builds 
each year; 15 x two-bedroom and 7 x one-bedroom studios, with four to be assigned 
specifically to the Out of Home Care Program.

Looking to the future, the new financial year will see us explore the feasibility of 
commercialising our Studio Program. In uncertain times it is essential we ensure the 
fiscal health of our organisation so we can continue to build foundations to prevent 
youth homelessness. 

None of what we do here at Kids Under Cover could be achieved without the ongoing 
dedication and professionalism of our whole team. I continue to be humbled by their 
efforts and enthusiasm in working towards the prevention of youth homelessness, each 
and every day. I am honoured to have such an incredible team working alongside me 
and I thank them all. 

I would also like to recognise and thank the board for the ongoing support I receive 
and acknowledge the guidance, hard work and dedication of each director. Their hard 
work ensures we achieve inspiring results; they continue to be focused on long-term 
sustainability and growth of Kids Under Cover. 

Finally, I wish to pay tribute to and acknowledge our generous corporate partners, 
donors and volunteers. Without your belief in what we do our work could not continue. 
You really do make a difference. Thank you.

 
Jo Swift
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Kids Under Cover experienced a steady increase in grants and donations 
in the 2015/16 year. The increase of $0.5 million represents a 2% increase, 
with other income increasing by $0.37 million.

Due to the growth of the Donate Your Car® program, Kids Under Cover is now paying  
for the administrative and operating costs of the program including transport that  
was previously provided on a pro bono basis. These costs totalled $815,135 during  
the financial year. Even with these expenses the Donate Your Car® program continues  
to generate a healthy net income stream.

The decision was made to accelerate studio depreciation to be more reflective of the 
life span of our studios. As a result, this appears to have significantly increased the 
Studio Program costs in comparison to the previous financial year by $1.35 million. 

Other administration and management expenses have remained in line with the 
increase in revenue.

Our cash on hand increased by $1.5 million to $6.5 million and total net assets 
decreased marginally as a result of the accelerated depreciation from $14.22 million 
to $13.68 million. Maintaining a reasonable level of total funds and reserves is a 
conservative measure to ensure that we have sufficient safeguards in place in the 
event that Kids Under Cover was unable to generate future funding.

Our financial strategy continues to focus on securing and further diversifying our 
revenue streams to support growth of our existing programs.

We would like to thank Pitcher Partners, our auditors, who continue to be generous  
with providing their time and expertise.

Alison Tait

treasurer’s report
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financial snapshot
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government funding

corporate donors

individual donors

philanthropic trusts and foundations

events and community fundraising

investments/sale of assets

bequests

6%

36%

31%

6%

18%

1% 2%

funding breakdown 2015/16
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7%

where we invested 2015/16

studio program

scholarship program

donate your car®

general marketing and fundraising

administration



homelessness: 
the issue

our workour work

youth homelessness
Being homeless doesn’t only refer to people who sleep 
on the streets, in parks or under bridges. It also includes 
people who ‘couch-surf’ (sleeping on the couches of 
friends or relatives), or those who sleep in homeless 
shelters or temporary accommodation, such as caravan 
parks. Being homeless is about not having a secure place  
to reside on a nightly basis. 

 Homelessness is not just about a roof 
overhead, it’s about having a stable and 
secure place to call home. It’s about having 
a solid foundation upon which young people 
are afforded the support, the security 
and the care they need to explore their 
potential and become happy, healthy and 
productive members of the community.

what is youth homelessness?
It’s a grave misconception young people become 
homeless by choice. The reality is vastly different.

The issues that lead someone to become homeless are 
complex and varied. For at-risk young people, their lives 
have become emotionally and often physically unbearable.

Their home life may be burdened by the disadvantages of 
poverty, neglect, abuse, unemployment, substance abuse, 
health complications, disability and mental illness.

This cycle of events cause some young people to feel there 
is no other option but to leave. They are not ready, have 
nowhere to go and may become isolated from mainstream 
society, and can often experience depression, poor 
nutrition, substance abuse and mental health problems. 
Without the right support, many will struggle with 
homelessness their entire lives.

Early intervention interrupts the cycle, and maintains a young 
person’s connection to home and their support networks.

enter kids under cover
Kids Under Cover supports vulnerable young people 
between the ages of 12 and 25 who are either already 
homeless or at risk of becoming homeless.

We build relocatable, one- and two-bedroom studios, with 
a bathroom, in the backyard of a family or carer’s home. 
The extra room relieves overcrowding, eases tension 
and provides young people with a secure and stable 
environment. The studio remains in place for as long as  
it’s required. Kids Under Cover will relocate a studio up to 
four times during its lifetime, to help other families in need.

We then compliment with scholarships for education or 
job training, offsetting basic education costs to empower 
young people to achieve their goals. Not only are our 
scholarships awarded to young people residing in our 
studio but also their siblings in the main home, helping  
to break the cycle of poverty and disadvantage.

our approach to 
tackling youth 
homelessness
We are catering to one of the most basic human 
requirements – the need for safe shelter. Psychologist 
Abraham Maslow outlined a hierarchy of human needs 

and according to his theory, the most basic level of needs 
(shelter and food) must be met before a person can focus 
on the higher levels.

When it comes to youth homelessness we believe 
prevention is better than cure. The heart of our work,  
our Studio Program, provides accommodation for young 
people at risk of homelessness. Our studios ensure 
families are able to remain connected, giving them 
additional room to live and provide young people with  
a safe and secure environment. 

Combined with the provision of scholarships to ensure 
young people remain connected to education or job 
training our early intervention model is simple, unique  
and effective.

what are the benefits  
of early intervention?
For the individual, by acting early to identify and address  
the issues which lead to homelessness, we can mitigate  
the detrimental effect of the problem and offer the 
support required to bring positive change to the lives  
of young people. 

For the wider community, this approach reduces the  
cost to society that invariably results from entering 
the cycle of homelessness. Costs in mental and 
physical healthcare, justice system and other specialist 
homelessness and support services are reduced. 
Additional flow on economic benefits are reduced 
dependence on welfare and waitlists for state housing, 
increased employment prospects, civic participation,  
and social integration.

what makes kids under cover unique 
from other organisations tackling 
the problem of youth homelessness?
We are the only organisation in Australia offering young 
people the combination of housing and education 
scholarships to keep them engaged with the community. 
This has proven to be a simple yet effective approach  
to the long-term prevention of youth homelessness.

– Jo Swift, CEO
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studio program

Studio maintenance makeover
a Kids Under Cover studio remains in place 
between 3.75 and 5 years. During this time, 
they require regular maintenance to keep 
them in the best possible condition.
Over the past two years we have trialled three 
maintenance models: having a single employed resource 
at Kids Under Cover; a volunteer monitor model; and 
outsourcing studio inspections to the contractors 
currently engaged to build studios.

These trials demonstrated that an outsourced model 
would provide the greatest efficiency and we introduced  
this permanently in January 2016.

We are grateful to our loyal Volunteer Studio Monitors 
for their incredible contribution to our work and to the 
wellbeing of our clients over the years. And we welcome 
and thank Harris HMC who now manage maintenance on  
our behalf.

Our studios support young people at risk of 
homelessness, families at risk of breakdown, 
kinship care and foster carers seeking additional 
space to accommodate young people in their care.

about our studio program
The Studio Program is Kids Under Cover’s core initiative. 
Through its partnership with more than 60 Community 
Service Organisations (CSOs) in Victoria, Kids Under  
Cover delivers an early intervention strategy designed  
to prevent youth homelessness.

One- and two-bedroom studios, with bathroom, are 
installed in the backyard of existing dwellings to assist 
families at risk of breakdown, kinship care, or foster 
carers who need more room to accommodate young 
people in their care. This studio provides support to young 
people and to their families or carers, while providing 
semi-independent living space for the young person to 
live and study. Once the studio is no longer required, it is 
relocated to accommodate another young person in need.

Our studios are built with Durra Panel, an environmentally 
friendly product made from straw without additional 
chemical binders. The entire kit is flat-packed with pre-
assembled frames and transported to the installation 
location. Studios can be constructed and fully fitted within 
10 days, they have a life span of 20 years, and can be 
relocated up to four times.

To ensure studios stay in top condition we monitor our 
studios in a formal audit process. The audit data collected 
also allows us to improve our budgeting and scheduling 
of studio maintenance, ensuring maximum longevity of 
the asset.

2015/16 financial year deliverables;
• To secure enough funding for 63 new studios to 

accommodate the growing demand for our services  
and reduce our waiting list

• To streamline our processes and increase our capacity 
to support more at-risk young people and their families

• Further develop our studio audit and maintenance program

what we achieved
During 2015/16, the Studio Program supported 629  
young people with accommodation in 445 one- or 
two-bedroom studios across Australia, and 62 studios 
were successfully built for young people at risk of 
homelessness. Despite experiencing issues with building 
overlays which significantly delayed construction, our 
studio building partner, Harris HMC, continue to work  
with authorities to ensure fast and efficient planning  
and building processes.

Of the studios allocated, nine were relocated from 
previous sites and the remaining 53 were new structures, 
reflecting the expansion of the program. 

young people at-risk categories:

at risk 55%

housing & support  
program 23%

child protection 16%

disability 6%
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1 july 2015 to 
30 june 2016 
completed 
studios

classification
haSP: Housing & Support Program – 
supporting young people who are currently 
homeless or at risk of homelessness

at-risk: Young people currently in or  
at risk of placement in out-of-home care  
or homelessness

Child Protection: Young people whose 
parents are either unable or unwilling to 
care for them

Disability: A sensory, physical or 
neurological impairment or acquired 
brain injury, an intellectual disability or 
a developmental delay which may be 
permanent, affects everyday life, requires 
support and is not related to ageing  
(adapted from DHHS Disability Guidelines  
and Standards at dhhs.vic.gov.au)

SUBUrB StUDIo tyPe CoMMUNIty ServICeS orgaNISatIoN CLaSSIFICatIoN
ARDMONA 1 Bedroom Melbourne City Mission DETOUR HASP
CHIRNSIDE PARK 1 Bedroom Anchor Inc HASP
DIAMOND CREEK 1 Bedroom DHHS Preston Child Protection
ECHUCA 1 Bedroom St Lukes Anglicare, Bendigo HASP
FOREST HILL 1 Bedroom DHHS Housing Box Hill HASP
FRANKSTON 1 Bedroom Melbourne City Mission HASP
HARCOURT 1 Bedroom Castlemaine and District Accommodation Resource Group At Risk
HEATHERTON 1 Bedroom Melbourne City Mission HASP
HEIDELBERG WEST 1 Bedroom Banyule Housing Support Group HASP
KAWARREN 1 Bedroom Bethany Community Support At Risk
LAKES ENTRANCE 1 Bedroom Aboriginal Housing Victoria At Risk
LANGWARRIN 1 Bedroom MI Fellowship HASP
LONG GULLY 1 Bedroom St Lukes Anglicare, Bendigo At Risk
MARYBOROUGH 1 Bedroom DHHS Bendigo Child Protection
MEADOW HEIGHTS 1 Bedroom Kildonan Uniting Care Broadmeadows HASP
MITCHAM 1 Bedroom Anglicare Box Hill At Risk
MOOROOPNA 1 Bedroom Kildonan Uniting Care Shepparton HASP
RESERVOIR 1 Bedroom Nillumbik Community Health Services At Risk
SAILORS GULLY 1 Bedroom St Lukes Anglicare, Bendigo At Risk
SEAFORD 1 Bedroom DHHS South Division At Risk
SWAN HILL 1 Bedroom Mallee Family Care At Risk
SWAN HILL 1 Bedroom Mallee Family Care At Risk
WANGARATTA 1 Bedroom Upper Murray Family Care Child Protection
WENDOUREE 1 Bedroom Uniting Care Ballarat At Risk
WENDOUREE 1 Bedroom Berry Street Grampians HASP
WENDOUREE 1 Bedroom DHHs Central Highlands Child Protection
WENDOUREE 1 Bedroom Victorian Aboriginal Child Care Agency At Risk
WYNDHAM VALE 1 Bedroom Salvation Army Westcare Child Protection
CORIO 1 Bedroom – relocated Barwon Child Youth and Family HASP
GREENSBOROUGH 1 Bedroom – relocated Anglicare Preston At Risk
GROVEDALE 1 Bedroom – relocated Bethany Community Support At Risk
KEILOR DOWNS 1 Bedroom – relocated Melbourne City Mission – DETOUR At Risk
MONTROSE 1 Bedroom – relocated Anglicare Lilydale Child Protection
SEBASTOPOL 1 Bedroom – relocated Centacare Catholic Diocese of Ballarat At Risk
WALLAN 1 Bedroom – relocated Berry Street At Risk
BROADFORD 2 Bedroom Rural Housing Network Shepparton At Risk
CRANBOURNE 2 Bedroom Berry Street At Risk
ELMHURST 2 Bedroom Child and Family Services Ballarat At Risk
EPPING 2 Bedroom Kildonan Uniting Care At Risk
EPSOM 2 Bedroom St Lukes Anglicare, Bendigo At Risk
FRANKSTON NORTH 2 Bedroom Moira Disability and Youth Services HASP
GEMBROOK 2 Bedroom Wesley Mission Victoria Child Protection
HEYWOOD 2 Bedroom Brophy Family and Youth Services At Risk
HOPPERS CROSSING 2 Bedroom Victorian Aboriginal Child Care Agency HASP
KEILOR EAST 2 Bedroom McKillop Family Services At Risk
KINGS PARK 2 Bedroom Copperfield College At Risk
KYNETON 2 Bedroom Cobaw Community Health Disability
MERBEIN 2 Bedroom Mallee Accommodation and Support Program At Risk
MILDURA 2 Bedroom Aboriginal Housing Victoria At Risk
MORWELL 2 Bedroom MIND Morwell HASP
NORLANE 2 Bedroom Barwon Child Youth and Family HASP
NORTH BENDIGO 2 Bedroom St Lukes Anglicare, Bendigo Child Protection
NUMURKAH 2 Bedroom DHHS Service Connect Shepparton Disability
RESERVOIR 2 Bedroom Melbourne City Mission At Risk
SEBASTOPOL 2 Bedroom Centacare Catholic Diocese of Ballarat At Risk
SEYMOUR 2 Bedroom Rural Housing Network Shepparton At Risk
ST LEONARDS 2 Bedroom Barwon Child Youth and Family Child Protection
SUNSHINE 2 Bedroom Melbourne City Mission DETOUR At Risk
WODONGA 2 Bedroom DHHS Housing At Risk
YARCK 2 Bedroom Berry Street Shepparton At Risk
CASTLEMAINE 2 Bedroom – relocated Castlemaine and District Accommodation Resource Group At Risk
CORIO 2 Bedroom – relocated Barwon Child Youth and Family At Risk
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national eXpansion & new studio design

As the issue of homelessness grows across 
Australia and the demand on our work increases, 
Kids Under Cover continues to work on how 
we can expand our early intervention and 
preventative model outside of Victoria. 

During 2015/16, CEO Jo Swift actively engaged with 
several state and local government agencies, along with 
other community organisations (especially in regional 
areas) to further understand the interstate challenges 
and limitations of building a Kids Under Cover studio 
outside Victoria, in particular, New South Wales.

Kids Under Cover would like to thank the Department of 
Planning & Environment and the Department of Family  
& Community Services in New South Wales for their 
support and recognition of the effectiveness of our Studio 
Program and look forward to further positive discussions.

studio re-design
In the previous financial year, a studio re-design was 
undertaken to identify areas for improvement from 
maintenance, environmental, regulation and compliance 
perspectives. After a tender process and with assistance 
from Grand Designs Australia host and award-winning 
architect Peter Maddison, Andrew Simpson Architects 
were appointed and got to work on a state-of-the-art new 
studio design to meet our program delivery requirements.

With this exciting new design, a prototype was 
constructed by Martin Builders and showcased at 
the Cubby House Challenge during the Melbourne 
International Flower & Garden Show in March 2016. 

The new design was innovative, modern and creative, 
met numerous design criteria, and was well received by 
key stakeholders and the general public. However, the 
design was so innovative that the building material and 
products required were relatively new to the Australian 
construction market, which meant price and guaranteed 
supply became a concern. As a result, it was decided to 
take a conservative approach and wait until the building 
industry had caught up before proceeding with the new 
concept as standard.

As a direct result of the delay of the new design rollout,  
we took the opportunity to review and improve the 
current studio design, developing a new and improved 
energy efficient studio upgrade, which included double 
glazing and fully insulated floors, walls and ceilings. As  
of 1 July 2016, all studios increased from a 2-star rating 
to a 6-star rating ensuring significant cost savings to 
families and carers.

This upgrade is based on the regulatory requirements 
in other states and includes further functional 
improvements for our young people like a built-in  
desk for study and a built-in robe for storage. 

We want to warmly thank Andrew Simpson, Peter 
Maddison, Martin Builders, Harris HMC and Ortech 
Industries for their outstanding work this year and  
for their continued support in seeing our studios  
and program delivery evolve. Watch this space!

studio locations

metro vic 50.3%

rural vic 44.3%

interstate 5.4%

New studio prototype displayed at the Cubby House Challenge in March 2016
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scholarship program
Our scholarships support young people who have 
the passion and motivation to continue education 
or job training, but do not have the resources.

about our scholarship program
The Kids Under Cover Scholarship Program is available 
to young people residing in our studios when enrolled in 
school, TAFE, university or in job training. Their siblings 
and any other young people living in the main home are 
also eligible to apply.

The program is designed to encourage young people 
to remain engaged with education and training, and to 
enable those wanting to further their studies. Education 
is one of the most important investments we can make 
for young people and it is critical to reducing poverty 
and inequality. At an individual level, it has a significant 
positive impact on a young person’s confidence, self-
esteem and employment prospects. 

Kids Under Cover’s strategy of complementing the 
provision of secure accommodation with educational 
support has proven to be a simple yet effective approach  
to the long-term prevention of youth homelessness. 

We provide the Kids Under Cover scholarships for young 
people aged between 15 and 25 engaged in secondary 
schooling, post-secondary study or employment training.

In addition to the Kids Under Cover scholarships offered,  
our founder, Ken Morgan and his wife Lenka proudly 
support the Ken & Lenka Morgan Scholarship: a one-off 

scholarship valued at $5,000 which is awarded to one 
young person each year who has demonstrated, through 
the application process, exceptional personal and 
educational potential. The recipient of this scholarship 
is announced at our annual supporter event held in 
November each year.

The Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS) 
Student Scholarship Program is designed to assist 
young people living in social housing, or those at risk 
of homelessness, to achieve their full potential, get the 
support they need to stay engaged in education, and 
complete years 11 and 12. Administered by Kids Under 
Cover on behalf of the Department, these scholarships 
provide funds for items such as textbooks, computer 
equipment, public transport, disability aids or other 
specialist equipment. 

2015/16 financial year deliverables: 

• Award and efficiently administer  
140 Kids Under Cover Scholarships

• Increase the number of young people  
taking up a Kids Under Cover Scholarship

• Award and efficiently administer the  
Ken & Lenka Morgan Scholarship

• Efficiently administer 230  
DHHS Student Scholarships – Young person who was awarded a Kids Under Cover 

scholarship funded by the Barr Family Foundation

 I want to try to achieve the best I can 
and be successful in life by doing what’s 
right towards me and others. I want to 
become a lawyer. This year’s scholarship will 
assist me in many aspects, including buying 
uni books, myki for travel, and tutoring 
help for difficult subjects that require 
consistent attention. 

12



what we achieved
The demand for our Scholarship Program has steadily 
increased and we received the highest number of 
applications since the program’s inception over a 
decade ago. 

During 2015/16 we focused on improving the efficiency 
of our program management. One aspect of this was 
enhancing our communication with young people, 
families and schools to raise awareness of the support 
available to them from Kids Under Cover and DHHS. 

Applications and management of the scholarships 
are now completely online, which has streamlined the 
administration and payment processes. Our Scholarships 
Coordinator also visited several rural and regional 
schools to promote our work and the program.

As a result, we awarded 130 Kids Under Cover 
scholarships, an increase of 7% from the previous  
year, however falling 10 short of our target of 140.

We effectively administered 280 DHHS scholarships and 
awarded these at an official ceremony held in Melbourne. 
DHHS awarded an additional 50 scholarships this year to 
celebrate the 10th anniversary of the program. 

In November 2015 the Ken & Lenka Morgan Scholarship 
awarded $5,000 to Mikaela Baillie. An independent 
scholarship selection committee carefully assessed  
28 applications against our priority ranking criteria.  
We are so proud of what Mikaela has achieved since 
then and wish her every success as she continues on 
her career pathway.

scholarship breakdown

male 52%

female 48% 

130
kids under cover 
scholarships awarded

“My Kids Under Cover scholarships have 
taken lots of pressure off me when it comes 
to financial expenses. Without them paying 
for stationery, textbooks, camps/excursions, 
my myki (to travel to and from university) 
and other educational expenses would be 
difficult to cover.
Receiving the Ken & Lenka Morgan Scholarship has 
allowed me to undertake two work placements, which 
ensured I passed my professional practice unit. Without 
the scholarship I would have lacked important gear I 
required and it would have been expensive for me to 
travel to and from my first placement.

The scholarship has also helped me undertake 
volunteering experiences (interstate) which have helped 
prepare for the workforce and also allowed me to interact 
and network with industry professionals. Discussions 
with my supervisor helped in my choice between doing 
an Honours or a Masters – I’m going to do a Masters as 
they’re recognised overseas. 

Now that I’m in my final trimester of my undergraduate 
degree panic is starting to set in about what to do after 
I graduate. However, through undertaking volunteer/
work experiences, thanks to the scholarship, I’ve gained 
more professional skills and experiences which have put 
me more at ease about graduating and going on to do a 
Masters and get into the workforce.”

– Mikaela Baillie,  
2015 Ken & Lenka Morgan Scholarship recipient.
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background & scope 
Kids Under Cover annually reviews and evaluates its 
programs to ensure they are effective and to learn how  
they can be improved. In the 2015/16 financial year we 
worked with the professional services firm EY (Ernst & 
Young) to further refine our methods.

The main change this year has been the use of an 
updated ‘Theory of Change’ model to asses how much  
of the changes in our clients’ lives can be attributed to  
the Kids Under Cover programs.

The Theory of Change model is widely used in the 
philanthropy, not–for–profit and government sectors to 
promote social change. It defines the long-term goals and 
maps backwards to identify the necessary conditions for 
these goals. It is used to measure and value the things 
that matter most to the stakeholders in the Kids Under 
Cover Studio and Scholarship Programs. 

The main stakeholders in these programs are young 
people, their carers, and our government and community-
sector partners. The process is underpinned by continual 
research into the outcomes of the Studio and Scholarship 
Programs. This evaluation process has two components:

1. Annual research with clients to understand the effects 
of the Kids Under Cover programs. Are they providing 
benefits for young people and their carers?

2. Every 3-5 years, an economic cost/benefit analysis is 
undertaken to understand the Social Return on Investment 
(SROI) of the Kids Under Cover programs. This includes a 
social benefits analysis for government.

A SROI analysis lets us measure and account for the 
broader concept of value in what we do. With this 
approach, it is possible to forecast the effects of our 
activities rather than simply measuring them (such  
as ‘the number of studios built’).

Since the Kids Under Cover Studio Program officially 
began in 1993, we have been analysing our services and 
their results through interviews and questionnaires with 
young people and their families. In this way, we have 
developed a solid understanding of the changes our 
clients have experienced through their involvement  
in our work.

Given the long-term nature of this data, our analysis  
is intended to establish a baseline for future surveys  
and evaluations.

2015/16 studio evaluation

method & highlights
Over two weeks in August 2016, EY defined questionnaires 
and engaged social research consultants to conduct phone 
interviews with young people and their families.

A sample was selected from those involved in the Kids 
Under Cover Studio and/or Scholarship Programs over 
the past 10 years. A range of demographic characteristics 
were represented, including males and females aged 
from 14 to 25, people who identify as Aboriginal or Torres 
Strait Islander, young people with a disability, people  
from various regions of Australia, and people in a variety 
of living and family situations (e.g. in the care of their 
parents or other family members, or in foster care). 

The results show three key components to understanding 
how much a Kids Under Cover intervention can transform 
the lives of young people and their carer:

1. Baseline data represented the average position on a 
five-point scale (never, sometimes, often, most of the time, 
always) before the Kids Under Cover intervention.

2. Follow-up data represented the average position on the 
scale at the time of the interview.

3. Attribution data represented the contribution to the 
change of the Kids Under Cover intervention. Young people 
and their carers were asked how much the changes in 
their lives were attributable to the Kids Under Cover 
programs (none, some, a lot, all).

The 2016 results show that young people’s lives have 
been substantially improved in a range of areas as a 

a comprehensive sroi analysis of 
the kids under cover programs will 
be published in the first half of 2017. 

meanwhile, this interim report provides 
an analysis of the key results of our 
surveys of young people and their 

carers involved in our studio and/or 
scholarship programs.
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result of the Kids Under Cover Studio and Scholarship 
Programs. In short, the biggest improvements were:

• Decreased likelihood of homelessness

• Improved emotional wellbeing and peace of mind

• Improved independence

For the carers of young people, the results have also been 
excellent. The positive results for them have included:

• Better interpersonal relationships

• Improved emotional wellbeing and peace of mind

• Improved social inclusion

• Better financial health

– Young person, aged 23

 I moved into some pretty terrible places. 
I was living with drug addicts at times. If it 
weren’t for the bungalow (studio) I’d be living 
in the street, because it gave me the space  
to finish high school and uni. 

29%
53%

staying 
at home

53% have not run away from home 
in the past year, compared with 29% 
before a studio was built.

57% 4%
family conflict

57% of young people reported 
conflict with their family most 
of the time, compared with 4% after a 
studio was built.
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30%

61%

88%

12%

14%

20%

spending a month 
or more away

feeling stressed

feeling too crowded

12% spend more than one month 
away from home each year, compared 
with 30% before a studio was built.

61% of young people felt stress 
always or most of the time, compared 
with 14% after a studio was built.

88% thought their house was 
crowded most of the time or always, 
compared with 20% after a studio  
was built.

96%

10%

not enough 
time alone

before a studio was built, 96% felt  
they never or sometimes had the 
space for time alone, compared with 
10% afterwards.

positive change 
how the kids under cover programs 
help young people
A Kids Under Cover intervention reduces the risk of 
homelessness for young people. Young people not only  
run away from home less frequently, but they also  
spend less time away from home. They experience a 
stronger sense of home, due to less overcrowding and  
an improved sense of privacy and personal space.

Reduced stress, improved self-image and a greater feeling 
of safety are also among the benefits to young people. They 
often report that they have more time to pursue their own 
interests and make plans for their future.

The Kids Under Cover Studio Program also had a 
positive effect on family relationships. Young people 
spend more quality time with their family, and conflicts 
at home are reduced. Young people also report improved 
friendships and social capacity. The studios provide a 
welcoming space for them to invite their friends, and the 
Scholarship Program allows them to participate in more 
curricular activities. 

The Kids Under Cover intervention has had a 
substantial positive effect on young people’s sense 
of home. It has helped to reduce the number of times 
that young people have run away from home, and the 
duration of their absence.

It has also had a very positive effect on young people’s 
feelings of personal identity, their sense of comfort and 
security at home, and their education.
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69%

14%

family conflict

69% of carers reported conflict 
within the household, compared 
with 14% after the studio was built.

how the kids under 
cover programs  
help the carers 
of young people
The lives of those who care for young people have been 
positively impacted by the Kids Under Cover Studio and 
Scholarship Programs. In particular, they report improved 
interpersonal relationships, better emotional wellbeing 
and peace of mind, increased social inclusion, and better 
financial health.

The Studio Program has improved family relationships. 
Carers spend more quality time with their families and 
conflicts at home have been substantially reduced. Now 
more carers look forward to spending time with the 
family, and it is a much more peaceful environment.

The carers of young people also have better peace 
of mind and wellbeing as a result of the Studio and 
Scholarship Programs. They are experiencing less  
stress — including financial stress — than before. Carers 
are also finding the time to pursue their own interests 
with a high percentage saying they now have time for 
themselves, a change in their lives they attribute directly  
to the Kids Under Cover intervention.

Allied with the positive changes in the carers’ personal 
lives is an improved sense of social inclusion. A growing 
percentage report that they never felt connected to or 
supported by their community until they joined the Kids 
Under Cover programs.

The Scholarship Program in particular has been a big 
help financially for a lot of carers. Carers who have taken 
part in the program report that their finances are in much 
better shape and they now have enough support to pay 
for the education of the young people in their care. This, 
in turn, has a great effect on the quality of life and the 
educational prospects of young people in their care.

57%

73%
enjoy time 
with family

73% of carers enjoy spending 
time with their family, compared 
with 57% before the studio was built.

– Carer of young person

 It’s her own sanctuary. You’d never 
think such a difference a bloody building 
would make. It’s amazing. Who would have 
thought it? 

– Carer of young person

 Her study suffered a lot when  
the studio wasn’t there, she didn’t have 
a lot of space so she had to apply for 
exemptions due to special circumstances 
at school and uni. 
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– Mother

 Just because of the conflict that 
was in the house with my daughter and my 
niece, it meant that she had a safe place to 
go and get away, without leaving the house, 
so we still had the family unit. 

more time to yourself

84% of carers said they never 
had time to themselves, compared 
with 24% after the studio was built.

82%

18%

feeling stressed

82% of carers reported feeling 
stress most of the time or always, 
compared with 18% after the studio 
was built.

– Carer of young person

 She’s making big plans. She’s come 
really good. She’s a star now. She was 
doing a few drugs back then too. But now 
she can get away from life and think in 
that studio. 

59%

37%

financial stress

59% reported financial stress, 
compared with 37% after the studio  
was built.

– Foster Carer

 We are so grateful. It’s made such a 
big difference. And I hope a lot more foster 
families hear about it so they can take 
more children. Often they want to keep 
siblings together, and if they don’t have a 
space like that, they just can’t do it. It’s 
very important they stay together. 
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visiting one of our studios on the ground 
delivers a very powerful insight into the 
difference our partners and supporters are 
making, and the very real benefits of our 
Studio Program. ede horton learnt just that 
after attending a studio visit in May 2016.
Ede knows only too well the power of a supportive, 
inclusive community and a loving family. 

“From an early age I learnt the importance of giving back; 
my parents were very community minded, installing a 
culture of giving into each of us kids.

When they could afford it, my parents would give to those 
in need. This is just something I grew up with, about being 
part of a community, being Australian. 

I feel very fortunate to have grown up with opportunities, 
being able to provide those same opportunities for my  
own children, being able to now give back is very important 
to me. 

Knowing that I can make a difference and play a part in 
securing the future for other children gives me a great 
deal of comfort – all young people deserve the same 
opportunities”.

For Ede choosing to support Kids Under Cover was a fairly 
easy choice, “I like to contribute to an organisation that 
provides opportunities for young people, with an inclusive 
community focus. I look for a reputable organisation 
with a strong team who care about what they do, with an 
accountable report back on the difference that is being 
made. When a friend told me about the work that Kids 
Under Cover do, I wanted to be involved”.

Ede’s support began with a donation to our Scholarship 
Program. From there she learnt more about the work 
that we do and the studios we build to keep young people 
connected to family. 

seeing is believing 

“The work that Kids Under Cover does speaks for itself; 
combining studios with scholarships makes sense, and to 
continue my support of this work made sense. The need for 
greater support is evident and contributing to the build of a 
studio was the logical next step for me.

Martin at Kids Under Cover keeps me updated on the work 
and the progress that is being made. It was during one of 
these progress reports that Martin invited me to join him 
on a studio visit”. 

Ede wasn’t sure about visiting a studio, especially one that 
a young person now called their own. 

“I didn’t want to intrude on that young person’s privacy,  
nor did I want to impose on the carers, but I was intrigued –  
I was keen to see the studio and hear first-hand about  
the difference it had made to this family.

We were made to feel welcome from the moment the door 
opened. Chatting over a cup of tea, it became very clear 
that these carers were real salt of the earth kind of people, 
with gentle wisdom and genuine compassion for the young 
people they were caring for, and an enormous amount of 
gratitude for the studio they received. 

We were welcomed into the studio as warmly as we were 
the home, I’m not sure what I expected kids have a knack 
for making their own space but to see that the young 
person was taking care of their studio and proud of his 
space really impressed me! 

I was overwhelmed by the difference this studio has made, 
not only for the young person, but for the whole family. For 
the young person, undoubtedly, a studio provides more 
than just a roof overhead, I could see that it was also a 
space to recover from past trauma, providing freedom  
and security not experienced before.

I am now more convinced than ever that a Kids Under 
Cover studio is imperative in keeping young people from 
becoming homeless”. 

attended by 40+  
kids under cover supporters

8
studio visits were 
conducted during 2015/16

19

o
u

r
 w

o
r

k



new child safe 
standards

If you have volunteered recently with Kids Under 
Cover you will have been asked to produce either 
a Police Check or a Working with Children Check.

The reason for these checks, regardless of how long you 
have been volunteering with us, and regardless of your 
role, is to comply with the State Government’s new Child 
Safe Standards. 

Taking effect in January 2016, the Victorian Government 
introduced compulsory minimum standards for 
organisations that provide services for children to help 
protect children from abuse. Education, awareness  
raising and helping organisations to create and maintain 
child safe environments are the initial focus of the Child  
Safe Standards.  

The Child Safe Standards form part of the Victorian 
Government’s response to the Betrayal of Trust Inquiry.

We fully support these changes and in line with the new 
standards, Kids Under Cover developed our Child Safe 
Policy and Child Safe Code of Conduct to ensure our staff, 
builders, contractors and volunteers adhere to these Safe 
Standards also.

the child safe standards include:
Standard 1: Strategies to embed an organisational 
culture of child safety, including through effective 
leadership arrangements

Standard 2: A child safe policy or statement of 
commitment to child safety

 

Standard 3: A code of conduct that establishes clear 
expectations for appropriate behaviour with children

Standard 4: Screening, supervision, training and other 
human resources practices that reduce the risk of child 
abuse by new and existing personnel

Standard 5: Processes for responding to and reporting 
suspected child abuse

Standard 6: Strategies to identify and reduce or remove 
risks of child abuse

Standard 7: Strategies to promote the participation and 
empowerment of children

This is a culture-changing strategy which will be 
implemented in a wide range of organisations, including 
charities, churches, schools and sporting clubs.

“We are committed to the safety, participation 
and empowerment of all children.”
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stretching out-of-home care
The Home Stretch is a national campaign formed 
to seek change to the current out-of-home care 
system to extend the leaving age for young 
people in state care from 18 to 21 years.

Kids Under Cover was an early adopter of this initiative 
as we firmly believe it will have a significant impact in 
preventing youth homelessness. We are joined by more 
than 70 social and charity organisations, with The Home 
Stretch gaining real momentum with hundreds signing  
up to support giving young people every chance at life.

Out-of-home care refers to the care of children and  
young people up to 18 years old who are unable to live  
with their families. It involves the placement of a child or 
young person with alternate caregivers on a short or long 
term basis1. Currently, funding to the carer ceases when 
the young person turns 18 and they may no longer be in  
a financially sound position to continue to care for them.

Within a year, many of them will end up homeless, and 
living on the streets.

Raising the foster care age from 18 to 21 would save 
money and reduce the risk of young people becoming 
homeless. “We now know that it’s not just the right thing  
to do, but the fiscally responsible thing to do,” said the 
Chair of the Home Stretch campaign, Mr Paul McDonald.

Many young people who are required to leave care at age 
18 become homeless, involved with the criminal justice 
system, unemployed or a new parent within the first 12 
months of being exited from care. The termination of care 
by state governments at 18 years old is not consistent 
with parenting in today’s culture, which sees many young 
people remain home well into their 20’s.2

The Home Stretch welcomes the support of anyone 
interested in this cause. The more people and 
organisations on board, the better the chance at 
advocating for this important and much needed change.  
Join Kids Under Cover and The Home Stretch as we 
continue to champion for an Australia where no young 
person in our community is homeless.

1Victorian Department of Human Services, 2007 
2 www.thehomestretch.org.au

cost of youth 
homelessness  
in australia

a Swinburne-led study has found 
the annual cost of health and justice 
services for homeless youth in australia 
is $626 million. 
This is in addition to the cost of providing support 
and accommodation services for young people 
experiencing homelessness. For every young person 
who becomes homeless there is an average 
net expenditure of almost  
$15,000 per person per  
year on health and criminal  
justice services,

$15,000p.a.
is spent on health and criminal 
justice services, for every young 
person who becomes homeless.
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our funding

We are always so grateful when the Victorian State 
Government recognise and support Kids Under Cover 
programs. Their grants help fund studio builds for young 
people and families in crisis right across Victoria.

2015/16 saw Kids Under Cover continue its cohesive 
relationship with the Victorian Government, Department  
of Health and Human Services (DHHS) and the 
Department of Justice and Regulation (Consumer  
Affairs) and the Victorian Property Fund (VPF).

The VPF awards grants for property-related purposes  
and includes projects that secure more affordable 
housing for low income and disadvantaged people in the 
state. The three-year VPF partnership agreement (now in 
year two) is collaborative. Both VPF and Kids Under Cover 
financially contribute to each studio build, and collectively 
21 studios were built for families in need.

Thanks to Minister of Housing Martin Foley, Kids Under 
Cover has secured a new $1.13 million per annum three-
year funding agreement. Office of Housing funded 22 
studios this year including specific funding for four  
Out of Home Care places. 

In addition to the 22 studios, DHHS supported a 
partnership with Melbourne City Mission and Kildonan 
Uniting Care called Detour. An Innovation Action Project 
funded by the Victorian and Australian Governments 
through the Victorian Homelessness Action Plan, Detour 
provided funding for four studios in 2015/16.

victorian 
government 
support

philanthropic 
partners

Kids Under Cover heart-warmingly thanks the Victorian 
Government for its ongoing support and welcomes the 
opportunity for additional partnerships and ventures to 
help tackle youth homelessness, and share in our vision 
where no young person in our community is homeless. 

The outcomes enabled by the Barr Family Foundation 
are both immediate and long-term. The studios provide 
immediate relief from overcrowding and the risk of 
a young person leaving home prematurely, while the 
scholarships offset the basic costs of education and 
training, providing recipients with an increased capacity  
to remain in school, and maximise their possibilities.

Through their partnership with Kids Under Cover, the 
Barr Family Foundation have already directly impacted 
the lives of over 40 disadvantaged young people. 

collier charitable fund
The origins of the Collier Charitable Fund stretch back 
to the 1950’s, when three Melbourne sisters, Alice, Edith 
and Annette Collier, daughters of a prominent grazier and 
contractor, created a means whereby their lifelong practice 
of generous support of charities and of the disadvantaged 
would be continued indefinitely after their death. In the 60 
or so years since the Fund’s establishment, over $80 million 
has been distributed for these purposes.

Kids Under Cover has been one of the fortunate 
recipients of the Collier Charitable Fund’s support. 

Commencing in 2004, the fund’s track record of youth 
homelessness prevention with Kids Under Cover has 
changed lives. In that time the fund has provided grants  
to Kids Under Cover on an almost annual basis, co-
funding 11 studios across the state.

The fund’s impact in preventing youth homelessness to 
date is significant. As a direct result of this generosity, 
15 young people have been diverted from the risk of 
homelessness, and they and their siblings have been 
able to apply for scholarships. Indirectly, each of their 
families also benefit from the additional space provided, 
minimising the chance of those families breaking down. 

A studio co-funded by the Collier Charitable Fund in 
Wendouree in 2015 meant that a 15-year-old girl who 
experienced homelessness a number of times was 
reunited with her family. The studio gave the family 
additional space, significantly reduced stress levels 
and improved privacy within the home, greatly helping 
to eliminate the risk of future family breakdown while 
providing secure and stable housing for the young person.

Donations and grants from philanthropic bodies are 
critical in ensuring the longevity of the programs 
we deliver. In 2015/16 we were fortunate to receive 
financial contributions from around 50 public and 
private trusts and foundations. 

We are humbled by the belief our philanthropic supporters 
place in our work, and are committed to fostering these 
relationships to benefit young people at risk well into 
the future. We are extremely grateful for the support we 
receive; below is just a snapshot of that support.

barr family foundation
Multi-year commitments from philanthropic bodies are 
relatively rare, but provide many benefits including the 
ability to more accurately budget and strategically plan. 

In 2014 the Barr Family Foundation granted a multi-year 
commitment pledging to fund our Studio Program and 
other activities over three years.

The provision of the final year pledge in May 2016 will 
mean that the Foundation will have fully-funded the build 
of a third two-bedroom studio, complementing studios 
previously constructed in Mill Park and on the Bellarine 
Peninsula. These three studios will provide secure and 
stable accommodation for six young people formerly  
at risk of homelessness. 

In addition to the three studios, the Barr Family 
Foundation has also funded 37 Kids Under Cover 
scholarships over the last two years. 
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undercover angel
Each year we recognise the significant impact a  
long-term supporter has made to the lives of young  
people at risk of homelessness.
Mr Phil Graf and his company BuildSafe Building Insurances was announced as the 
Undercover Angel award winner for 2015 in recognition of his long time support.

Phil has made more than 35 donations since 2011, totalling more than $180,000, 
often at times when funds were lean and most-needed. This is the equivalent to 
providing funding for three, two-bedroom studios.

Phil’s daughters Gabrielle and Lauren met with Jo Swift to accept the 
Undercover Angel award on Phil’s behalf.

Jo Swift presented Phil’s Undercover Angel 
Award to daughters Gabrielle and Lauren.Kids Under Cover is humbled by the long-term confidence 

the Collier Charitable Fund has placed in our vision of a 
community where no young person is homeless. and we  
look forward to working together in the future. 

jack brockhoff foundation
A family living in regional Victoria were experiencing 
overcrowding when five young people who had all 
previously experienced significant trauma, having 
witnessed serious domestic violence, were placed  
with their grandmother as a full-time carer. 

While offering a caring and supportive environment, the 
grandmother had inadequate space for the five children, 
particularly as they grew older. This was making it 
difficult for them to emerge from their past trauma. 
Desperate to keep the family together to assist their 
recovery, a Kids Under Cover studio was part of the 
solution thanks to the Jack Brockhoff Foundation. 

The name Brockhoff will be a familiar one for biscuit 
lovers across the country. Sir Jack Brockhoff was a third 
generation Chairman and Managing Director of Brockhoff 
Biscuits, a company established by his grandfather in 1880. 
The foundation was established in 1979, with a purpose ‘to 
provide philanthropic support to organisations across Victoria 
whose activities are designed to have a positive and enduring 
impact on the health and well-being of communities’.

In 2015 a grant from the Jack Brockhoff Foundation co-
funded the two-bedroom studio that was so desperately 
needed for this family. The two oldest grandchildren 
moved into the studio, providing them with privacy and 
the space to mature and develop some responsibility, 
while maintaining close proximity with their grandmother. 
The remaining three children then benefited from the 
additional space in the main home. 

This 2015 grant is another gift in a continuum of support 
from the Jack Brockhoff Foundation for Kids Under Cover 
which dates back to the year 2000, and has provided grants 
that alternately have funded both the Studio and Scholarship 
Programs. The Foundation has recently provided a further 
grant which will co-fund another studio in 2016/17. 

It is fitting a foundation that grew from such a strong 
family tradition continues to provide support to families 
in crisis who benefit from our programs. 
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donate 
your car®

In 2015/16 the most expensive 
car donated was a 1982 

Porsche 911 auctioned for 

$22,000

The most frequently donated car  
brand is a Ford Falcon closely  
followed by holden Commodore, 
Mitsubishi Magna and toyota Corolla.

number 
of cars 
donated in 
2015/2016

of all cars 
that are 
donated:

6,053

Donate Your Car® is Kids Under Cover’s very own 
social enterprise initiative. It’s the hassle-free 
way to get rid of an old or unwanted vehicle, 
while making a valuable donation to help prevent 
youth homelessness. 

The online donation form is quick and easy. We collect 
your car for free, our friends at Manheim will auction it, 
you’ll get a tax deductible receipt, and we’ll receive 100%  
of the sale proceeds.

Since 2006 our Donate Your Car® program has received 
more than 15,000 donations – and not just cars. We’ll take 
boats, trailers, bikes, lawn mowers, and even buses! We 
accept any vehicle, any make, any model, any year, it all 
makes a difference.

donateyourcar.org.au

white
25%blue

18%

silver
18%
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an act of kindness repaid  
with a car donation
Every year we are so lucky that our Donate  
Your Car® program receives thousands of 
donations. During 2015/16 we gratefully accepted 
over 6,000 donations and often we come across 
heartwarming stories like Rheanna’s…

A random act of kindness helped set Leopold woman 
Rheanna Allan up with a car for her new job. In turn, 
Rheanna returned the good deed by helping to prevent 
youth homelessness.

Rheanna knows only too well how quickly a young 
person’s life can be changed by the generosity of others. 
Just last year her car was in a bad way, unreliable and 
always breaking down. Without the funds to replace it 
she was in a tight spot, “I had just landed a new job,  
I needed my car to get to and from work, but I was 
always worried it would let me down.”

Then a stranger changed her life.

“I was with my mum, getting her car serviced at a garage  
in Ocean Grove, and there was a 1994 Ford Festiva for 
sale out the front, but I didn’t have the money for it, or  
the income or credit history to get a loan,” Rheanna says.

“Then, three hours later I got a phone call from the 
mechanic, who said someone had just walked in off the 
street, paid for the car and instructed him to give it to 
someone who needed it.” Rheanna couldn’t believe her luck!

That random act of kindness gave Rheanna the start she 
needed, and now, about to start her own business, she 

has upgraded the little Festiva to something bigger. Keen 
to ‘pay it forward’ Rheanna donated the Festiva to Kids 
Under Cover. The car was auctioned with proceeds going 
towards our work.

The Donate Your Car® program is extremely valuable to 
Kids Under Cover, as 100 per cent of the sale proceeds 
go back into our work in preventing youth homelessness. 
Rheanna said she was keen to repay, in some way, her 
good fortune.

“I couldn’t believe it when I got the call,” she said. “It was 
a local man, but he didn’t leave his details. He even left 
money for the registration – it really set me up well, so 
now it’s my turn to ensure the car continues doing good.”

donateyourcar.org.au

Donate Your Car® Program 
Partners – we love you!

Donate your Car® auction Partner:  
Manheim Auctions

Supporting Partners:  
Moreland City Council, Hume City Council, 
Banyule City Council

Rheanna’s Festiva
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searching for 
a better life
Fearing for the life of their young son, 
having witnessed unimaginable loss 
and devastation as fighting intensified in 
Somalia, faced with starvation and possible 
persecution, Fatuma and her husband 
decided to escape the civil war crisis and 
worsening plight of their homeland.
Preparing to flee the war torn country they called home, 
all of a sudden they were separated and Fatuma lost her 
husband. She was left behind with a young child and had 
no choice but to flee in search of a better life and safe 
place, on her own.

Fatuma sought refuge under Australia’s Humanitarian 
Programme, arriving in 1992, where she was reunited 
with her sister and brother. 

Having risked everything for a better life, Fatuma faced 
many challenges while trying to adjust to life without her 
husband in a brand new country. Barely able to speak 
English, she was scarred and grieving, but she had a five-
year-old boy to look after and was determined to make 
their new life in Australia work. 

The transition from a survival lifestyle to that of 
opportunity and freedom saw Fatuma begin to integrate 
into Melbourne’s broader multi-cultural society and 
ingraining herself into the local community. Finding it 
difficult to communicate, she quickly learnt to speak 
English and with a love for children and desire to 
help other families she started working in childcare, 
eventually becoming a carer for young children in 

child protection. At one point she found herself looking 
after four children full time, aged between four and six 
months old.

Coming through the other side of one of the most 
difficult times of her life, Fatuma remarried and 
had three more children. Sadly, it was during this 
relationship that she faced the devastating reality  
of domestic violence. The man she had trusted to  
share her life with and protect her had betrayed her. 
Emotional and physical violence ensued, and Fatuma 
spiralled into a deep depression. 

So bad was her situation that she even contemplated 
leaving her children behind and ending it all. “I found 
myself sitting in my car one day very close to taking my 
own life when my sister intervened, telling me to wake 
up to myself for the sake of my children. I knew then 
that my kids needed a settled family, and they needed 
their mother. I had no choice but to leave the abusive 
relationship and start again.”

No stranger to new beginnings, Fatuma was determined 
to change her life and focus on her children. She worked 
three jobs, providing for her children as a single mum for 
eight years. During that time, she started her own family 
day care business and met a wonderful caring man 
whom she is now married to. Fatuma and her husband 
continue to run the family day care together whilst 
her husband also completes his studies at La Trobe 
University to be recognised as a doctor here in Australia. 
Four years ago they welcomed their first son together 
and three years later baby number two. 

Coupled with Fatuma’s three older children, the family of 
seven had quickly outgrown their four-bedroom home. 
Overcrowding in the family home was a huge issue. “There 
was not enough room so the two older boys were sharing 
a room, their sister had her own bedroom and the two 
babies another room,” explains Fatuma. Brothers Ali * (16) 
and Fahid * (13) were constantly arguing. Sometimes the 
fighting would lead to violence and Ali would often run 
away from home, a constant concern for Fatuma,  

26



“I was so worried that my boy would 
run away and not come home, that 
he would get hurt or even something 
worse,” Fatuma recalls. 

Wanting to keep her family together and ensure Ali 
completed his schooling, Fatuma moved her two 
youngest children into the main bedroom with her  
to give the boys their own rooms. 

“I thought if they had their own rooms they would stop 
fighting, but they didn’t,” says Fatuma. 

The conflict within the home continued as Ali and his 
younger brother were constantly arguing. For Ali the 
situation was intolerable; his younger brother would 
tease him, hide his homework and school clothes, 
amongst other things. The environment within the 
home was also taking its toll on the other members of 
the family, relationships were strained and Fatuma and 
her husband were constantly stressed and anxious. 
“Every Friday morning I would wake up so fearful for 
the weekend, I didn’t know where Ali would end up,” 
recalls Fatuma.
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Ali’s home life was having a huge impact on 
all aspects of his life. At home he could not 
find anywhere to escape from his brother, 
his self-confidence had plummeted, whilst 
at school he spent the day worrying about 
what would happen when he got home and 
his school work was suffering.
 

He had become withdrawn and there were many times  
he would run away for days, sleeping rough underneath  
a bridge just to avoid being near his brother. 

“Ali would just leave. I would be frantic to find him so we 
would drive around looking for him. I would call and call 
and he would not answer, then he would just turn his 
phone off. Sometimes I was so desperate for him to come 
home I would text him telling him I was sick in hospital 
just to get him to call me, to come home”.

Fatuma didn’t know what to do and things at home were 
spiralling out of control. She was running out of ways to 
keep her eldest son at home. One thing she did know was 
that things could not continue as the outcome would most 
likely see Ali homeless.

“Ali is a kind, gentle boy. He loves school and really 
enjoys and excels at team sports, he is very athletic,” 
says Fatuma. “So to see him withdraw from school, not 
want to play soccer with his friends, choosing to sleep 
under a bridge, on his own, in the cold, dark of night 
away from his family was very, very distressing.” 

To ensure he remained at home, continued with his 
schooling and to restore some peace within the family 
home Ali needed his own space… enter Kids Under Cover.

Fatuma remembers the day she got the call to say they 
were getting a studio, “I couldn’t believe it, I kept saying, 
no, no, are you sure? When I told Ali, he didn’t believe it 
either, even when they were building it, it still didn’t  
seem real”.
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The studio was installed in May 2016 with the support of 
Porter Davis Homes and has already enabled Ali to learn 
new life skills, become more independent and focus on 
his studies. It has given him a place to retreat to, a place 
of his own. 

“He is a different boy now, and his 
brother Fahid loves the studio too. They 
have become friends. Sometimes Fahid 
spends time with Ali in the studio where 
his older brother even helps him with his 
homework. And Ali even invites me in to 
watch a movie with him so I get to spend 
some one-on-one time with him too.” 

Things at home have settled considerably. The studio has 
not only given the boys their own space and freed up space 
inside the family home, but also relieved some pressure 
ensuring Fatuma is able to continue looking after children 
through her family day care business, and provided some 
peace for her husband to study within the home.

Ali is now back on track at school. Having identified the 
disruption caused to his learning he decided to repeat 
year 11 to ensure he gets the best possible results he 
can. He is determined to do well at school so he can go 
on to university. “I’m not sure what I want to do, I love 
sport, team sports, so maybe something to do with that,  
I definitely want to go to uni,” says Ali.

Not everyone has the fortune to be born into a stable 
family environment. Many of the young people we 
support are dealing with a great deal of trauma and  
grief often carried on from their parents. 

It is humbling to see how hard Fatuma has worked to 
keep her family together, to be able to provide for them 
the best life she can giving them the same opportunities 
as other children, ensuring they remain connected to 
education and their community so that they have the  
best chance at a bright future.

*Names have been changed 29

Ca
s

e s
tu

dy



The word ‘partnership’ carries significant 
meaning in the contemporary homelessness 
sector. Having meaningful, supportive 
partnerships and relationships throughout  
the community is known to be fundamental for 
individuals to lead healthy and productive lives.

We strive to establish long term, meaningful relationships 
that deliver tangible value to our partners, provide 
significant support to Kids Under Cover and create real 
impact in the wider community.

A review of our approach to partnerships, undertaken late 
last year has given greater clarity to the way we work with 
partners. There are three core areas we focus our efforts 
to drive benefit to each partner: 

1. Increase client awareness 
2. Increase employee engagement 
3. Improve brand perception

In the past 12 months, our partners have created a genuine 
point of difference from their competitors, and have clearly 
demonstrated their commitment to the local community, 
while publicly demonstrating good corporate citizenship 
through their involvement with our work. 

We tailored each partnership to include a specific 
combination of activities, including tax deductible 
donations, and support for our events to help raise vital 
funding and awareness. 

Sponsorships also provided wide public visibility of their 
commitment to preventing youth homelessness as well  
as opportunities for staff involvement. 

Partners have supported and encouraged staff to 
participate in workplace giving, fundraising activities 
and volunteering.

We have worked together to deliver co-marketing and 
awareness campaigns that increase support and provide 
public visibility of the partner’s commitment to preventing 
youth homelessness. We’ve also used products and 
services provided by partners at no cost.

Together, we have been able to build valuable partnerships 
that provide predictable income streams for Kids Under 
Cover, and create networks of supporters who advocate  
on our behalf.

corporate partnerships

Porter Davis volunteers working to build a studio for a Melbourne family.

Recent research shows that employees of 
companies which are engaged in community 
issues are markedly more committed to their 
company on a variety of levels1 and consumers 
are more likely to support brands associated 
with a good cause2

staff said:
• 70% influence on their decision to work there

• 61% teamwork skills increase following team 
volunteering projects

• 75% of women are more inclined to purchase  
from a company that supports charity.

edelman’s 2016 trust  
barometer findings:
• 72% of consumers would recommend a brand  
that supports a good cause2

• 71% of consumers would promote a product  
or service if there is a good cause behind them2

• 66% trust a brand that is ethically and  
socially responsible2

1 Edelman’s 2016 Trust Barometer

2 Corporate Philanthropy and Productivity: Evidence 
from an Online Real Effort Experiment. University of 
Southampton 2014 

Doing good is good for business
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Porter Davis believe new homes are the 
foundation of great dreams and stand to respect, 
protect, and nurture those dreams. Their 
partnership with Kids Under Cover enables 
them to play a part in keeping families together 
ensuring young people do not become the face  
of homelessness in Australia. 

During the past three years Porter Davis have created 
many opportunities for their staff to support us including:

• Regular cash donations totalling $107,500

• 12 staff participating in workplace giving 

• Each year sponsoring runners in Run Melbourne

• Each year building a cubby for the annual Cubby House 
Challenge with their 2016 cubby fetching the highest 
amount on record, $17,200!

• The annual corporate golf day provides opportunities 
for suppliers, contractors and clients to participate and 
contribute, raising $25,850 in 2015/16

• Surplus furniture donated to the Kids Under Cover office

• Approximately 70 volunteers contributed 560 volunteer 
hours to build three studios

Altogether they have generously raised over $190,000, 
funding three studios in the south-west, west and northern 
suburbs of Melbourne. We are grateful and proud of the 
enormous contribution they make to Kids Under Cover and 
look forward to what we can achieve together in the future.

For partners who decide to fund a complete 
studio, we provide a unique team building 
experience with our Corporate Build program. 
Under the supervision of our qualified builders 
up to 28 volunteers work to construct a studio 
over the course of two weeks. 

This unique opportunity creates value for your business by:

• Forming the centrepiece for an integrated corporate 
social responsibility activity

• Being used as a reward or incentive for employees

• Offering a way to build relationships with  
key stakeholders 

• Forming a platform for unique campaigns  
to strengthen your brand

Choice Hotels created a consumer awareness campaign 
and focusing on National Homelessness Week in August 
2015, $2 from each night’s stay in a Choice Hotels property 
for the entire week was donated to Kids Under Cover 
raising over $50,000. The studio installed by volunteers  
has created the space for a young person to stay with her 
family and study to complete an apprenticeship in a secure 
and stable environment.

The focus for Frasers Property is to fund activities that 
provide their staff opportunities to participate hands-on 
within the communities in which they operate. To date 
Frasers have fully funded the installation of four studios, 
including our first pilot studio build in Sydney. 

building 
foundations 
together

building studios to build 
value for everyone

Seeking to create a consumer campaign that would  
engage and educate their franchisees, staff, suppliers  
and customers, Pharmore Pharmacies developed a year-
long campaign which included investment from their 
supply chain. Scheduled marketing blitzes were planned 
with in-store activities to encourage sales and staff 
engagement creating genuine interest from local media  
and industry publications.

For more information on our Corporate Build 
program please visit kuc.org.au/get-involved

Choice Hotels team members building a studio in Forest Hill.
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cubby house 
challenge in 
its 8th year!
As the largest and most high-profile fundraising 
activity on the Kids Under Cover calendar, the 8th 
Cubby House Challenge did not disappoint, raising 
over $140,000 in March 2016! 

With an aim to raise much needed funds, while increasing 
our profile within the wider community, the Cubby House 
Challenge provides the perfect platform for supporter and 
community engagement in the lead up to the event and 
onsite at the Melbourne International Flower & Garden 
Show (MIFGS). 

This special event aligns perfectly with the Kids 
Under Cover brand and our purpose, highlighting the 
importance of happy and safe young people with the link 
to stable accommodation in our quest to prevent youth 
homelessness. The Cubby House Challenge is the ideal 
vehicle for us to engage people in what we do and start 
conversations with supporters and stakeholders alike.

This flagship event brings together a variety of experts 
from within the building and design industries to design, 
build and style their dream cubbies, which are judged by an 
expert (and celebrity!) panel, and then auctioned off during 
our twilight auction event on site. These unique, bespoke 
children’s cubbies have been a feature display at MIFGS 
since 2011. 

Kids Under Cover is the official charity of MIFGS, and since 
its inception, the event has raised over $420,000 for our 
homelessness prevention programs. 

2016 set new benchmarks, not only in the quality of the 
cubbies, but also for our fundraising. The auction raised 
$63,200, with the impact being significantly boosted 
through a dollar-for-dollar matching initiative with  
Gandel Philanthropy. 

This year’s entries were truly inspiring and demonstrated  
a thoughtful commitment to understanding the role of play 
in children’s lives.

Children and adults alike were drawn to the cubbies, 
keeping visitors entertained and engaged, with many 
adults reminiscing about cubbies they had during their 
childhood. This positive response was reflected in the 
lively bidding during the twilight auction, resulting in a 
record price of $17,200 paid for “The Relic” by Porter Davis. 
This cubby was inspired by a shipwreck dive with hidden 
elements to surprise and delight young explorers.

The team from Matt Gibson Architecture+Design and 
Hartman Construction & Development took out the 
architectural award for their multi-functional cubby house 
“Pl-yground”, which contained lavender embedded wall 
panels, a fireman’s pole and climbing nets.

Fairhaven Homes “Funhouse” cubby was purchased by a 
loyal supporter of Kids Under Cover, the Portland House 
Foundation, which donated the cubby to the Inner North 
Community Foundation. The Foundation placed the cubby 
with the Aborigines Advancement League in Thornbury 
later in the year.

Auctioneers from leading real estate agencies iSell Group, 
hockingstuart Northcote, Woodards, RT Edgar, and Nelson 
Alexander took on the task of auctioning a cubby house 
each, which led to some healthy competition.

The result of the 2016 Cubby House Challenge was 
supplemented by a very generous community grant of 
$40,000 from Gandel Philanthropy. “We were thrilled to be 
involved with such an exciting event,” said Alexandra White 
from Gandel Philanthropy.

Gandel Philanthropy has generously supported Kids Under 
Cover in the past, having co-funded a two-bedroom studio 
in Laverton in 2014. 

Kids Under Cover CEO Jo Swift said the collaboration 
between so many diverse organisations, from the  
builders and designers, through to the final placement  
of Fairhaven’s cubby, demonstrated the power of 
collaboration and partnerships to unlock the potential  
for bringing about change.

“We are so grateful to everyone who supported the 
Cubby House Challenge: the cubby house creative teams, 
auctioneers, judges, sponsors, bidders, volunteers and 
guests who make the auction such a memorable event.

It is heartening to see what can be achieved when like-
minded people come together,” said Jo.

cubbyhousechallenge.org.au

Johanna Griggs from Better Homes and Gardens with kids at the  
Cubby House Challenge village.

Best Architectural Cubby award winner, PL-YGROUND
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new social enterprise 
makes caring cool 

Charity Tap is a new social enterprise started  
by The Conscious Creative. 

Melbournians can make a difference by choosing a beer 
or cider from one of the designated ‘Charity Taps’ at a 
steadily growing number of Melbourne bars and pubs. 

The founders of Charity Tap, Nick Pearce, Marcus Crook 
and 2015 Young Australian of the year, Robbie Gillies, 
share a goal to change the negative attitudes towards 
homelessness and help people in need. They do this 
through their charity, Homeless of Melbourne, and the 
non-profit retail store HoMie where they provide training 
and employment programs for young people who are 
or have been homeless. “HoMie made us realise how 
powerful social enterprise is and how easy it was to 
have a real impact,” says Robbie. “With Charity Tap, 
we are open to helping any people in need throughout 
Australia in areas including mental illness, poverty, 
suffering and homelessness.” 

Kids Under Cover staff with Robbie Gillies from Charity Tap and Cam 
Jackson from Nevermind Bar, a Charity Tap supporter.

When Martin from Kids Under Cover came across an 
article about Charity Tap, it immediately caught his 
attention. “The whole team thought it was a great 
initiative that we really wanted to be involved with,”  
said Martin. After contacting Robbie late last year, Kids 
Under Cover was excited to be selected as one of their 
first charity partners and feature charity during February 
and March 2016. 

The Kids Under Cover team visited several of the 
participating venues to show their support and also  
met two of the founders, Robbie and Sam for a chat  
about their then new project. Over the two-month period, 
Charity Tap raised more than $2,500 for Kids Under Cover.

We are incredibly thankful to Charity Tap and hope to 
work with the inspirational team in the future. “We try  
not to be biased so we can help as many charities as 
possible, but we would definitely be happy to work with 
Kids Under Cover in the future, maybe as a feature  
charity again later next year,” said Robbie. 

A real highlight of the last financial year has been 
the continued growth in support from community 
fundraisers, who not only raise funds to support 
the work that we do, but also raise awareness of 
the issue of youth homelessness.

There are many people who generously organised 
fundraising events and activities, took part in fun 
runs, held sausage sizzle BBQs, bake sales, sold CDs, 
organised movie nights, and donated proceeds from 
raffles and auctions to Kids Under Cover, ensuring the 
longevity of our programs helping to change the lives  
of at-risk young people every day.

During the last financial year, 32 individual people 
organised events raising funds for Kids Under Cover. 
Organising a fundraising event is no easy feat; it takes 
time and relies on the support of family and friends.  
We acknowledge your generosity and thank you.

In addition to organised events, we recognise the  
support we received from the 19 runners who 
participated in the Run Melbourne event on 26 July  
2015. Faced with a cold crisp winter morning, an excited 
team of runners took to the streets of Melbourne to raise 
awareness of our work while raising vital funds at the 
same time. Our dedicated volunteers were there on the 
day to cheer them on and hold fort at the Kids Under 
Cover marquee.

Of our enthusiastic community fundraisers, we are  
also extremely grateful for the support we received  
from Dave, Liz and family from Bonindra Wines who  
held the Bonindra Reborn wine sale event at the 
Cricketers Arms Hotel. Attended by family and friends,  
they raised $4,755, which is the amount required to 
deliver the plumbing for a brand new studio.

Supporting Kids Under Cover on an annual basis, the 
students at Shenton College in Perth hold a variety of 
fundraising activities throughout the year, which are  
well supported by all students and teachers.  

community fundraising
During this last financial year, they raised an incredible 
$6,000 to assist us with our Scholarship Program.

Rotary Club of St Kilda showed their support for our work 
through the Local ‘n Vocal project which provided young 
musicians with a professional recording experience. 
The music created was then featured on an album with 
proceeds from sales being split between three charities 
working with young people at risk of homelessness. We 
were grateful to have received $2,500 from sales of the CD.

Without the support from all of our community 
fundraisers we could not continue to deliver our 
programs, building studios and providing scholarships 
for the young people we support, so thank you again for 
helping us to make a difference.
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management team

jo swift
Chief Executive Officer

Steering our ship for 9 years as CEO, Jo has been 
a part of the Kids Under Cover family for 14 years. 
In that time the organisation has seen significant 
growth under her leadership as we continue to 
strengthen our program delivery. 

Stakeholder management and business 
development make up a large part of Jo’s role, 
however one phone call can turn her whole week 
upside down. “That’s the nature of dealing with 
families and young people in crisis. Everything 
becomes immediate and time is of the essence.” 

For Jo, watching a young person join a Kids Under 
Cover program and seeing them progress through 
life with the help of a studio and scholarship is 
one of the most rewarding aspects of her role. “In 
the beginning, we have a person who is lost and 
disenfranchised. What we end up with is a young 
person coming out the other side full of hope, 
confidence and opportunity. This is why I get out of 
bed every day and continue to do what I do: having  
the power to change a young person’s life.”

heather 
fisher
National Finance &  
operations Manager

Heather brings over 20 years’ experience, a 
Bachelor of Business, Masters of Tax, and is a 
qualified Chartered Accountant. Heather spent 
the first half of her career in a top tier Chartered 
Accounting firm before moving into various 
executive roles in the service industry. 

Heather is a respected executive with a reputation 
for integrity, quality, and delivering results. 

Heather joined Kids Under Cover in March 2016, and 
is responsible for finance, administration, human 
resources, governance and information technology.

our people

Fundamental to the success of our work 
in preventing youth homelessness is a 
dedicated, passionate and hardworking 
team. at Kids Under Cover, we are 
fortunate to have a diverse range of 
talented individuals who work tirelessly 
to ensure we are able to deliver our studio 
and Scholarship Programs efficiently and 
professionally with integrity and pride. 
Our Senior Management Team provide outstanding 
leadership with a commitment to supporting employees  
to develop and grow professionally and personally.
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bianca 
richards
National Marketing & 
Fundraising Manager

Bianca has been part of the team at Kids Under  
Cover since November 2015, overseeing all 
fundraising activities, including Donate Your  
Car®, as well as brand management, marketing  
and communications.

With over 12 years’ experience at national level 
in franchise marketing, health and wellness, 
consumer services, retail, local area marketing, 
membership, and fundraising, Bianca brings 
exceptional leadership, team management and 
mentoring skills to the marketing and fundraising 
team, along with sound strategic competency and 
proven results across all marketing channels. 

brett evans
National Programs Manager

Brett joined the Kids Under Cover team in June 2016, 
leading the programs department. Responsible for 
the operational success of Kids Under Cover, Brett 
has a strong background in project management, 
ensuring development and management of 
Community Service Organisation partnerships, 
program delivery, quality control and evaluation.

Having worked within the Department of Health 
and Human Services for many years, Brett has 
widespread experience and has developed significant 
knowledge of governance and corporate systems. 

Brett is a dynamic leader, influencer and 
professional administrator who drives and achieves 
outstanding results by utilising extensive project 
management, corporate services, government and 
private sector experience and networks.
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andy coleman
Chair
role: To ensure the strategic development of Kids 
Under Cover and sustain strong corporate governance.

Andy is a Chartered Management Accountant and 
is Operations and Supply Chain Director at Coles 
Supermarkets Australia.

Andy holds an economics degree from The University 
of Nottingham and has nearly 20 years’ experience in 
retail, having held various director roles in both finance 
and operations in England, Scotland and Ireland before 
arriving in Australia.

Andy joined the board in 2012.

colin radford
vice Chair
role: To provide Kids Under Cover with in-depth 
knowledge of government; its agencies, operations, 
stakeholders, processes and objectives.

Colin is the CEO of the Victorian Managed Insurance 
Authority, a non-executive director of the Transport 
Accident Commission (TAC) and Chair of the Defence 
Reserves Support Council (Victoria). 

A Fellow of the Williamson Community Leadership 
Program (2006), Colin has more than 25 years’ 
experience as a senior executive within and advisor 
to government, including seven years as a Partner at 
Deloitte. Colin joined the Kids Under Cover Board in 
July 2014.

Finance Committee 
Assists the board in fulfilling its 
fiduciary responsibilities and ensures 
the ongoing fiscal accuracy and health  
of the company.

risk & audit Committee 
Identifies, reviews and rates the potential 
current and future risks to the company. 
The committee ensures appropriate 
systems, measures and support are in 
place to minimise risks to the company.

governance Committee 
Reviews and recommends governance 
systems, policies and procedures to the 
Kids Under Cover board. 

remuneration Committee 
Reviews pay, conditions and performance 
of senior management and reviews 
recommendations made by the CEO  
in relation to staff recognition. 

board committees

governance
the BoarD
The Kids Under Cover board is responsible for the overall governance of the company 
including its strategic direction, establishing goals for management and monitoring the 
achievement of those goals. The board convenes a minimum of six times per year plus 
an additional Annual General Meeting (AGM).

Code of Conduct 
Under the leadership of the Chair and the CEO, and within the boundaries of the 
constitution, the board determines and articulates the values, vision and the strategic 
direction of Kids Under Cover. In doing this, the board is expected to:

•  meet fiduciary responsibilities 
as required under all relevant 
commonwealth and state legislation;

•  act within their duty of care to make 
decisions in the best interests of Kids 
Under Cover;

•  avoid conflicts of interest;

•  develop strategic planning and  
direction of Kids Under Cover including 
monitoring organisational performance 
and evaluating strategic results;

•  endorse internal policies;

•  report back to the stakeholders  
at the AGM;

•  monitor the organisational compliance 
with the relevant commonwealth and 
state legislation and with Kids Under 
Cover’s own policies; and

•  evaluate its effectiveness as a board.

3636



alison tait
treasurer,  
audit & risk Committee Chair
role: To support Kids Under Cover in meeting its 
financial reporting requirements and risk management.

Joining the Kids Under Cover board in July 2014, Alison 
is a Partner at PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC) and 
has extensive experience in accounting and financial 
reporting. Alison is a member of the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants with a Bachelor of Commerce 
and over 15 years’ experience working with ASX listed 
companies and large multinationals in the retail, 
consumer and industrial products sector.

sarah davies
Director,  
remuneration Committee Chair
role: To support the strategic development of Kids 
Under Cover, particularly in the areas of strategy  
and governance.

CEO of Philanthropy Australia, Sarah joined the board 
in 2003. With a background in education, Sarah 
established the Kids Under Cover Scholarship  
Program in 2004. 

Sarah is a Fellow of the Australian Institute of 
Management, a Member of the Australian Institute 
of Company Directors, a Fellow of the Williamson 
Community Leadership Program and a Victorian JP. 
Sarah has a keen interest in supporting young people, 
having previously held the position of CEO of The  
Reach Foundation, a for-purpose organisation working  
to improve the wellbeing of young people so they can  
get the most out of life.

nathaniel 
popelianski
Director,  
governance Committee Chair
role: To ensure Kids Under Cover practices are within 
the law and our constitution reflects our organisation 
and growth. Nathaniel joined the Kids Under Cover 
board in 2012.

Specialising in property law, Nathaniel is a partner 
at Corrs Chambers Westgarth where he is known for 
his ability to calmly and quietly come up with clever 
solutions to seemingly insurmountable problems.

helen kroger
Director
role: To support the strategic development of Kids 
Under Cover particularly in the areas of critical 
thinking and state government insights.

Joining the Kids Under Cover board in April 2015, 
Helen Kroger has extensive experience in the 
philanthropic, education and corporate sectors. Helen 
provides corporate advisory services to Australian 
businesses and is a Senior Counsel with Civic Creative. 
Helen was a Liberal member of the Australian Senate 
representing the state of Victoria from 2008 to 2014.

37

b
oa

r
d

 &
 g

o
v

er
n

a
n

ce



financial report
CorPorate INForMatIoN  38

DIreCtor’S rePort For the year eNDeD 30 jUNe 2016  39

aUDItorS DeCLaratIoN 40

DIreCtorS qUaLIFICatIoNS  41

StateMeNt oF ProFIt or LoSS 42

StateMeNt oF FINaNCIaL PoSItIoN 43

StateMeNt oF ChaNgeS IN eqUIty  
+ StatEmEnt Of CaSh flOWS 44

NoteS to aND ForMINg Part oF  
the FINaNCIaL StateMeNtS 45

DIreCtorS DeCLaratIoN 52

INDePeNDeNt aUDItorS rePort  53

CorPorate INForMatIoN 
KIDS UNDER COVER ABN 76 604 592 013

DIreCtorS The following directors were in office at the date of this report: 
A. Coleman (Chair) 
C. Radford (Vice Chair) 
S. Davies 
N. Popelianski 
A. Tait 
H. Kroger

CoMPaNy SeCretary

regIStereD oFFICe  
aND PrINCIPaL PLaCe  
oF BUSINeSS

BaNKerS 
 

aUDItorS

J. Swift

383 Swan Street Richmond VIC 3121 

 
Bank of Melbourne 
530 Collins Street 
Melbourne VIC 3000

Pitcher Partners 
15 Williams Street 
Melbourne VIC 3001

3838



DIreCtorS’ rePort
The directors present their report together with the financial report of Kids Under Cover 
for the year ended 30 June 2016 and auditor’s report thereon.

DIreCtorS NaMeS

The names of the directors in office at any time during or since the end of the year are:

DIreCtorS
BoarD MeetINgS 
eLIgIBLe to atteND

NUMBer 
atteNDeD

Andy Coleman 5 3

Colin Radford 5 5

Nathaniel Popelianski 5 5

Alison Tait 5 5

Helen Kroger 5 2

Sarah Davies 5 4

Jeff Jones (Resigned 12/11/2015) 1 1

Janet Berriman (Resigned 16/06/2016) 5 3

All directors have been in office since the start of the year to the  
date of this report.

reSULtS

The deficit of the company for the year amounted to $547,483.

REviEW Of OPERatiOnS

The company continued to engage in its principal activity, the results  
of which are disclosed in the attached financial statements.

SIgNIFICaNt ChaNgeS IN State oF aFFaIrS

There were no significant changes in the company’s state of affairs that occurred  
during the financial year, other than those referred to elsewhere in this report.

PrINCIPaL aCtIvItIeS

The principal activities of the company during the year were:

• Fundraising through gifts, donations, government and philanthropic grants,  
appeals, events and regular giving programs,

• Construction of one and two bedroom studios,

• Provision of scholarships

No significant change in the nature of these activities occurred during the year.

Short-terM aND LoNg-terM oBjeCtIveS aND StrategIeS

The Company’s short and long term objective is to prevent youth homelessness.

The Company’s strategies to achieve this objective include:

• constructing purpose built demountable studios for homeless and at-risk young people

• providing scholarships for education or job training

In doing this we seek to keep families together, keep young people engaged in education 
and connected with their community.

PerForMaNCe MeaSUreS

To evaluate the efficiency and effectiveness of the organisations programmatic activities 
a Monitoring & Evaluation framework is in place. The annual evaluation report can be 
found in the annual report.

aFter BaLaNCe Date eveNtS

No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which 
significantly affected or may significantly affect the operations of the company, the  
results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the company in future financial years

MeMBerS gUaraNtee

The company is incorporated under the Corporations Act 2001 and is a company limited 
by guarantee. If the company is wound up, the Constitution states that each member 
is required to contribute to a maximum of $1 each towards meeting any outstandings 
and obligations of the company. At 30 June 2016 the number of members was 6. The 
combined total amount that members of the company are liable to contribute if the 
company is wound up is $6.

aUDItorS INDePeNDeNCe DeCLaratIoN

A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration under Division 60 of the Australian 
Charities and Not-for-profits Commissions Act 2012 in relation to the audit appears  
on page 40 and forms part of the Directors’ report for the year ended 30 June 2016.

Signed on behalf of the board of directors. 
 
 

andrew Coleman alison tait

Director 
Date: 02 November 2016

Director, Treasurer
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DIreCtorS qUaLIFICatIoNS, exPerIeNCe aND SPeCIaL reSPoNSIBILItIeS 

NaMe qUaLIFICatIoNS aND exPerIeNCe SPeCIaL reSPoNSIBILItIeS

andy Coleman Operations & Supply Chain Director at Coles Supermarkets Australia. 
Andy is a Chartered Management Accountant and holds an Economics 
Degree from Nottingham. With over 20 years’ experience in retail, Andy 
has held various Director roles in both finance and operations in the UK 
before arriving in Australia.

Board Chair

Colin radford Chief Executive Officer at Victorian Managed Insurance Authority. Colin 
is a public sector specialist with more than 25 years working in and with 
government. Experience includes senior executive roles at ShineWing 
Australia and Deloitte Australia. Colin is currently a Director of the TAC, 
the Chair of Defence Reserves Support Council (Victoria) and a Fellow  
of the Williamson Community Leadership Program.

Board Vice Chair

Sarah Davies Chief Executive Officer of Philanthropy Australia and Board Member of 
the Centre for Social Impact. Sarah has an extensive background in the 
tertiary education sector and is a graduate of the Australian Institute of 
Company Directors and a Williams Fellow.

Remuneration Committee Chair

Nathaniel Popelianski Partner at Corrs Chambers Westgarth, Nathaniel specialises in property  
law, has a Bachelor of Commerce, a Bachelor of Laws, has been in  
practice since 1997 and is national practice group leader of the Property  
& Infrastructure Practice.

Governance Committee Chair

alison tait Partner at PwC. Alison holds a Bachelor of Commerce, is a member of 
the Institute of Chartered Accountants and has over 15 years’ experience 
working with ASX listed companies and large multinationals.

Audit and Risk Committee Chair

Treasurer

helen Kroger Currently providing corporate advisory services to Australian business 
and is a Senior Counsel with Civic Creative. Helen has an extensive 
background in the philanthropic, small business, education and  
corporate sectors.
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StateMeNt oF ProFIt or LoSS aND other CoMPreheNSIve INCoMe For the year eNDeD 30 jUNe 2016 

Note
2016  

$
2015 

$

reveNUe aND other INCoMe

Government funding 2 2,678,737 2,844,809

FUNDraISINg

Donations and gifts 2 4,087,046 3,508,948

Bequests 2 26,600 -

Events 2 141,152 428,616

other INCoMe

Membership income 2 - (2,964)

Sale of goods 2 - 10,693

Net gain on disposal of non-current assets 2 402,651 -

Investment income 2 68,833 109,107

2 7,405,019 6,899,209

exPeNSeS

Marketing and fundraising costs

General marketing and fundraising (1,243,562) (1,552,703)

Donate Your Car® (815,135) (199,585)

Scholarship program costs (541,177) (523,444)

Housing program costs (4,405,360) (2,939,843)

Mentor program costs - (81,171)

Management and administration costs (947,268) (809,316)

(7,952,502) (6,106,062)

SuRPluS/(DEfiCit) fROm OPERatiOnS (547,483) 793,147

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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StateMeNt oF FINaNCIaL PoSItIoN aS at 30 jUNe 2016 

Note
2016  

$
2015 

$

CUrreNt aSSetS

Cash and cash equivalents 4 6,586,619 5,067,605

Receivables 5 399,086 422,157

Other assets 6 29,971 294,954

totaL CUrreNt aSSetS 7,015,676 5,784,716

NoN-CUrreNt aSSetS

Property, plant and equipment 7 8,158,001 9,522,069

totaL NoN-CUrreNt aSSetS 8,158,001 9,522,069

totaL aSSetS 15,173,677 15,306,785

CUrreNt LIaBILItIeS

Payables 8 1,003,549 603,176

Provisions 9 143,110 276,737

Other liabilities 10 232,356 153,611

totaL CUrreNt LIaBILItIeS 1,379,015 1,033,524

NoN-CUrreNt LIaBILItIeS

Provisions 9 118,220 49,336

totaL NoN-CUrreNt LIaBILItIeS 118,220 49,336

totaL LIaBILItIeS 1,497,235 1,082,860

Net aSSetS 13,676,442 14,223,925

eqUIty

Reserves 11 1,526,053 1,316,846

General funds 12,150,389 12,907,079

totaL eqUIty 13,676,442 14,223,925

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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StateMeNt oF ChaNgeS IN eqUIty For the year eNDeD 30 jUNe 2016 

reServeS  
$

geNeraL FUNDS 
$

totaL eqUIty 
$

BaLaNCe aS at 1 jULy 2014 1,146,877 12,323,139 13,470,016

Surplus for the year - 793,147 793,147

totaL CoMPreheNSIve INCoMe For the year - 793,147 793,147

Transfers 169,969 (209,207) (39,238)

Total transactions with owners in their capacity as owners - - -

BaLaNCe aS at 1 jULy 2015 1,316,846 12,907,079 14,223,925

Deficit for the year - (547,483) (547,483)

totaL CoMPreheNSIve INCoMe For the year - (547,483) (547,483)

Transfers 209,207 (209,207) -

BaLaNCe aS at 30 jUNe 2016 1,526,053 12,150,389 13,676,442

StatEmEnt Of CaSh flOWS For the year eNDeD 30 jUNe 2016 

Note
2016  

$
2015 

$

CaSh flOW fROm OPERating aCtivitiES

Grants and donations received 7,574,647 7,250,606

Payments to suppliers and employees (3,814,905) (4,119,312)

Interest received 68,833 109,107

Scholarships paid (492,596) (382,467)

Net CaSh ProvIDeD By oPeratINg aCtIvItIeS 3,335,979 2,857,934

CaSh flOW fROm invESting aCtivitiES

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 421,999 3,636

Payment for property, plant and equipment (2,238,964) (2,155,685)

nEt CaSh PROviDED by / (uSED in) invESting aCtivitiES (1,816,965) (2,152,049)

reCoNCILIatIoN oF CaSh

Cash at beginning of the financial year 5,067,605 4,361,720

Net increase in cash held 1,519,014 705,885

CaSh at eND oF FINaNCIaL year 6,586,619 5,067,605

The accompanying 
notes form part of these 
financial statements.
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NoteS to aND ForMINg Part oF the FINaNCIaL StateMeNtS
Note 1: StateMeNt oF SIgNIFICaNt aCCoUNtINg PoLICIeS

The financial report is a general purpose financial report that has been prepared in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements, 
Interpretations and other applicable authoritative pronouncements of the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board and the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission 
Act 2012.

The financial report was approved by the directors as at the date of the directors’ report.

The financial report is for the entity Kids Under Cover as an individual entity. Kids Under 
Cover is a company limited by guarantee, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. Kids 
Under Cover is a not-for-profit entity for the purpose of preparing the financial statements.

The following is a summary of the material accounting policies adopted by the company 
in the preparation and presentation of the financial report. The accounting policies have 
been consistently applied, unless otherwise stated.

(a) BaSIS oF PreParatIoN oF the FINaNCIaL rePort

Historical Cost Convention

The financial report has been prepared on an accruals basis and is based on historical 
costs, modified, where applicable, by the measurement at fair value of selected non-
current assets, financial assets and financial liabilities. Cost is based on the fair values 
of the consideration given in exchange for assets.

(B) INCoMe tax

No provision for income tax has been raised as the company is exempt from income tax 
under Division 50 of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997.

(C) reveNUe

Investment income

Investment income comprises of interest revenue and is recognised when it accrues.

In-kind donations

Goods and services donated to the company are included at fair value to the company 
where this can be quantified. No amounts are included in the financial statements for 
services donated by volunteers. Goods donated for resale, raffle and auction are included  
as income when they are sold.

Asset sales

The gain or loss on disposal of all non-current assets is determined as the difference 
between the carrying amount of the asset at the time of disposal and the net proceeds on 
disposals. All revenue is measured net of the amount of Goods and Services Tax (GST).

(D) CoNtrIBUtIoNS – goverNMeNt graNtS aND DoNatIoNS

A non-reciprocal contribution or grant is recognised when the entity obtains control of the 
contribution or grant and it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the entity,  
and the amount of the contribution or grant can be measured reliably.

If conditions attached to the contribution or grant that must be satisfied before the entity  
is eligible to receive the contribution, recognition of contribution or income is deferred  
until those conditions are met.

A non-reciprocal donation is recognised when the right to receive a donation has  
been established.

When the entity receives grants but is obliged to give directly approximately equal  
value to the contributor, recognition of grant income will be deferred until the delivery  
of service.

(e) ProPerty, PLaNt aND eqUIPMeNt

Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair value less, where 
applicable, any accumulated depreciation.

Any property, plant or equipment donated to the company or acquired for nominal cost  
is recognised at fair value at the date the company obtains control of the assets.

Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment is measured on the cost basis.

Houses

Houses are carried at deemed cost less, where applicable, any accumulated depreciation.

The land on which the houses are situated is utilised under a long term lease from the 
government and is not owned by the company.

Studios

Studios are carried at deemed cost less accumulated depreciation.

Studios funded by Department of Health and Human Services – Children Youth & Families 
(CYF) remain in CYF’s possession for 15 years and the company must manage the studios 
for that time. The company has a duty of stewardship to manage, control and, where 
necessary, relocate the studios. Title to the studios is transferred over the 15 year period.

Studios funded by other sources, including Department of Health and Human Services – 
Office of Housing (OOH), are property of the company.

Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any 
accumulated impairment losses.
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NoteS to aND ForMINg Part oF the FINaNCIaL StateMeNtS 
Note 1: StateMeNt oF SIgNIFICaNt aCCoUNtINg PoLICIeS (CoNtINUeD)

(e) ProPerty, PLaNt aND eqUIPMeNt (CoNtINUeD)

Depreciation

Items of property, plant and equipment (other than land) are depreciated over their 
useful lives to the company commencing from when the asset is held ready for use. 
Depreciation is calculated on a straight line and diminishing value basis over the 
expected economic lives as follows:

CLaSS oF FIxeD aSSet DePreCIatIoN rateS DePreCIatIoN BaSIS

Houses at cost 5 Straight line

Studios at cost 25 Straight line

Leasehold improvements at cost 33 Straight line

Motor vehicles at cost 25 Diminishing value

Office fittings and equipment 5-40 Diminishing value

(F) IMPaIrMeNt

At the end of each reporting period, the company assesses whether there is any 
indication that an asset may be impaired. The assessment will include considering 
external sources of information and internal sources of information. If such an indication 
exists, an impairment test is carried out on the asset by comparing the recoverable 
amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value 
in use, to the asset’s carrying value. Any excess of the asset’s carrying value over its 
recoverable amount is expensed to the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Depreciated replacement costs is used to determine value in use. Depreciated 
replacement costs is the current replacement cost of an asset less, where applicable, 
accumulated depreciation to date, calculated on the basis of such cost.

(g) eMPLoyee BeNeFItS

(i) Short-term employee benefit obligations

Liabilities arising in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave, and any other employee 
benefits expected to be settled wholly before twelve months after the end of the annual 
reporting period are measured at the (undiscounted) amounts based on remuneration 
rates which are expected to be paid when the liability is settled. The expected cost of 
short-term employee benefits in the form of compensated absences such as annual  
leave is recognised in the provision for employee benefits. All other short-term employee 
benefit obligations are presented as payables in the statement of financial position.

(ii) Long-term employee benefit obligations

The provision for other long-term employee benefits, including obligations for long 
service leave and annual leave, which are not expected to be settled wholly before 
twelve months after the end of the reporting period, are measured at the present value 
of the estimated future cash outflow to be made in respect of the services provided by 
employees up to the reporting date. Expected future payments incorporate anticipated 
future wage and salary levels, durations of service and employee turnover, and are 
discounted at rates determined by reference to market yields at the end of the reporting 
period on high quality corporate bonds that have maturity dates that approximate the 
terms of the obligations. Any remeasurements for changes in assumptions of obligations  
for other long-term employee benefits are recognised in profit or loss in the periods in 
which the change occurs.

Other long-term employee benefit obligations are presented as current liabilities in the 
statement of financial position if the entity does not have an unconditional right to defer 
settlement for at least twelve months after the reporting date, regardless of when the 
actual settlement is expected to occur. All other long-term employee benefit obligations 
are presented as non-current liabilities in the statement of financial position.

(h) LeaSeS

Leases are classified at their inception as either operating or finance leases based  
on the economic substance of the agreement so as to reflect the risks and benefits 
incidental to ownership.

(I) gooDS aND ServICeS tax (gSt)

Revenues, expenses and purchased assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, 
except where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Tax Office. In these 
circumstances the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as 
part of an item of the expense. Receivables and payables in the statement of financial 
position are shown inclusive of GST.

Cash flows are presented in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis, except for the 
GST component of investing and financing activities, which are disclosed as operating 
cash flows.

(j) CoMParatIveS

Where necessary, comparative information has been reclassified and repositioned for 
consistency with current year disclosures.

(K) eCoNoMIC DePeNDeNCy

The company is dependent upon the ongoing receipt of grants and donations to ensure 
the continuance of its housing and scholarship programs.
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NoteS to FINaNCIaL StateMeNtS For the year eNDeD 30 jUNe 2016 

2016  
$

2015 
$

Note 2: reveNUe aND other INCoMe

Government funding 2,678,737 2,844,809

DoNatIoNS aND gIFtS

Individual donors 2,268,202 1,771,099

Corporate donors 459,728 552,324

Philanthropic trusts and foundations 1,359,116 1,185,525

Bequest 26,600 -

eveNtS

Sales of tickets - 108,600

Raffles and auctions 75,707 260,109

Sponsorships 65,445 70,600

Membership fees - (2,964)

other INCoMe

Investment income 68,833 109,107

Net gain on disposal of non-current assets 402,651 -

reveNUe aND other INCoMe 7,405,019 6,899,209

nOtE 3: SuRPluS/(DEfiCit) fROm OPERatiOnS

Surplus/(Deficit) has been determined after:

exPeNSeS:

Depreciation and amortisation 2,981,454 1,635,779

Loss on disposal of property plant and equipment 34,222 8,071

Loss on relocation 223,315 207,666

Provision for relocation 98,037 130,873

Employee benefits 1,439,377 1,414,199

Movement in employee benefits provisions (1,463) (3,215)

Operating lease expenses 144,347 41,911
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NoteS to FINaNCIaL StateMeNtS For the year eNDeD 30 jUNe 2016 (CoNtINUeD)

2016  
$

2015 
$

Note 4: CaSh aND CaSh eqUIvaLeNtS

Cash on hand 226 220

Cash at bank 6,586,393 5,052,385

Security deposit - 15,000

6,586,619 5,067,605

Note 5: reCeIvaBLeS

Current

Trade debtors 96,800 88,644

Sundry debtors 81,183 222,549

GST receivable 221,103 110,964

399,086 422,157

Note 6: other aSSetS

Prepayments 29,971 294,954

Note 7: ProPerty, PLaNt aND eqUIPMeNt

hoUSeS

At cost 1,456,073 2,036,073

Accumulated depreciation (1,031,842) (1,343,038)

424,231 693,035

StUDIoS

At cost 15,661,512 14,084,920

Accumulated depreciation (7,991,795) (5,376,122)

7,669,717 8,708,798

LeaSehoLD IMProveMeNtS

At cost 4,620 -

Accumulated depreciation (1,296) -

3,324 -

total land and buildings 8,097,272 9,401,833
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NoteS to FINaNCIaL StateMeNtS For the year eNDeD 30 jUNe 2016 (CoNtINUeD)

2016  
$

2015 
$

PLaNt aND eqUIPMeNt

Motor vehicles at cost 59,603 59,603

Accumulated depreciation (37,515) (30,153)

22,088 29,450

Office fittings and equipment 62,226 194,132

Accumulated depreciation (23,585) (103,346)

38,641 90,786

Total plant and equipment 60,729 120,236

totaL ProPerty, PLaNt aND eqUIPMeNt 8,158,001 9,522,069

(a) reCoNCILIatIoNS

Reconciliation of the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment  
at the beginning and end of the current financial year

Houses

Opening carrying amount 693,035 794,839

Disposals (174,211) -

Depreciation expense (94,593) (101,804)

CLoSINg CarryINg aMoUNt 424,231 693,035

Studios

Opening carrying amount 8,708,798 8,890,910

Additions 2,216,569 2,070,768

Disposals and relocation write down (404,613) (753,740)

Depreciation expense (2,851,037) (1,499,140)

CLoSINg CarryINg aMoUNt 7,669,717 8,708,798

Leasehold improvements

Opening carrying amount - -

Additions 4,620 -

Depreciation expense (1,296) -

CLoSINg CarryINg aMoUNt 3,324 -
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NoteS to FINaNCIaL StateMeNtS For the year eNDeD 30 jUNe 2016 (CoNtINUeD)

2016  
$

2015 
$

Motor vehicles

Opening carrying amount 29,450 43,548

Disposals - (4,199)

Depreciation expense (7,362) (9,899)

CLoSINg CarryINg aMoUNt 22,088 29,450

Office fittings and equipment

Opening carrying amount 90,786 38,876

Additions 17,775 84,917

Disposals (42,754) (8,071)

Depreciation expense (27,166) (24,936)

CLoSINg CarryINg aMoUNt 38,641 90,786

Note 8: PayaBLeS

CURRENT

Trade creditors 630,811 386,271

Sundry creditors and accruals 372,738 216,905

1,003,549 603,176

Note 9: ProvISIoNS

CURRENT

Employee benefits (a) 95,910 123,137

Provision for make good - 50,000

Scholarships 47,200 103,600

143,110 276,737

NON-CURRENT

Employee benefits (a) 2,720 8,836

Scholarships 115,500 40,500

118,220 49,336

(a) Aggregate employee  
benefits liability

98,630 131,973

2016  
$

2015 
$

Note 10: other LIaBILItIeS

Grants received in advance 232,356 153,611

Note 11: reServeS

Housing program reserve 851,425 597,059

Scholarship program reserve 464,634 510,351

Scholarship endowment reserve 209,994 209,436

1,526,053 1,316,846

hoUSINg PrograM reServe

The housing program reserve has been established to record funds raised by donation  
to the company for use in its housing program.

SChoLarShIP PrograM reServe

The scholarship program reserve has been established to record funds raised by 
donation to the company for use in its scholarship program.

SChOlaRShiP EnDOWmEnt RESERvE

The scholarship endowment reserve was established from funds received from the 
Estate of Cecelia Murnane. These funds are held in perpetuity with 80% of the income 
relating to these funds being used to pay scholarships and the balance retained to 
increase the fund.

2016  
$

2015 
$

Note 12: Key MaNageMeNt 
PerSoNNeL CoMPeNSatIoN

Compensation received by Key 
Management Personnel of the 
company

- short-term employee benefits 530,259 522,842

- post-employment benefits 46,703 45,460

576,962 568,302

The above remuneration for KMPs relates to 4 full time equivalents.
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NoteS to FINaNCIaL StateMeNtS For the year eNDeD 30 jUNe 2016 (CoNtINUeD) 
Note 13: reLateD Party traNSaCtIoNS 

(a) DIreCtorS

Directors of the Company in office during the year are disclosed in the directors’ report that accompanies these  
financial statements.

(B) DIreCtorS’ CoMPeNSatIoN

The directors act in an honorary capacity and receive no compensation for their services.

(C) tRanSaCtiOnS With DiRECtOR-RElatED EntitiES

There were no transactions with directors or director related entities during the financial year and no amounts payable  
or receivable from directors or director related entities at the reporting date. 

2016  
$

2015 
$

Note 14: CaPItaL aND LeaSINg CoMMItMeNtS

(a) oPeratINg LeaSe CoMMItMeNtS

The Company has entered into a commercial lease for the head office 
premises. Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable 
operating leases as at the reporting date:

Payable

- not later than one year 145,000 144,347

- later than one year and not later than five years 162,877 302,083

307,877 446,430

Note 15: MeMBerS’ gUaraNtee

The company is incorporated under the Corporations Act 2001 and is a company limited by guarantee. If the company is 
wound up, the Constitution states that each member is required to contribute to a maximum of $1 each towards meeting  
any outstandings and obligations of the company. At 30 June 2016 the number of members was 6. The combined total  
amount that members of the company are liable to contribute if the company is wound up is $6.

Note 16: CoMPaNy DetaILS

The Registered Office of the company is: 
Kids Under Cover 
383 Swan Street, 
RICHMOND VIC 3121
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thank you
During 2015/16 our vision of a community where no 
young person is homeless was shared by so many. 

On behalf of the young people and families we support, the 
team at Kids Under Cover sincerely thank all of our patrons, 
ambassadors, funders and donors. Thank you to all of our 
individual, community, philanthropic, corporate and government 
supporters, the generous organisations who provided pro bono 
services, our building crews, and every volunteer who gave their 
valuable time and skills to enable us do what we do. 

Every dollar given and every hour of support gifted is vital, and 
ensures that we can continue to make a difference to the lives 
of so many young people. Thank you.

Founding Patron 
• Ken Morgan OAM 

Patrons
• Herb Elliott AC MBE
• Tommy Emmanuel AM
• Athol Guy AO 
• Incolink
• Master Builders 

Association of Victoria
• Ian ‘Molly’ Meldrum AM
• The Honourable Martin 

Moynihan AO QC
• Daryl Somers OAM

Life ambassadors
• Brian Chenu
• George Ermer
• Trevor Fasham
• David Lee

young ambassador
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want to get 
involved?

there are a variety of ways to be involved in the work we do at Kids under Cover. Without the support of  
like-minded people, we could not continue to pursue our vision of a community where no young person is homeless.

make a donation
Every donation, large and small, does 
make a difference to young people in 
need. You can donate easily online at 
kuc.org.au OR call us 1800 801 633.

donate your car®
Our Donate Your Car® program is 
an easy way to make a significant 
contribution to the lives of young 
Australians who are homeless or at 
risk of becoming homeless. It’s free, 
tax deductible, and a fast alternative 
to selling or trading your vehicle. Visit 
donateyourcar.org.au to find out more.

leave a gift  
in your will
A bequest is a gift left by an individual 
in their Will. It can take the form of 
cash, shares, property or other assets. 
Choosing to leave a bequest is a lasting 
and generous legacy, which will benefit 
young people beyond your lifetime. 
For a confidential conversation about 
leaving a gift in your Will please call us 
on 1800 801 633.

volunteering 
opportunities
Volunteers are the backbone of many 
things that we do throughout the year. 
Often we have opportunities for you 
to become involved as a volunteer at 
our events, in the office and at other 
community fundraising events that 
may take place. To find out more visit 
our website kuc.org.au OR call us  
on 1800 801 633.

fundraise for us
There are many opportunities to 
fundraise for us throughout the year, 
from taking part in a fun run event to 
holding your own event such as a trivia 
night or afternoon tea. Please call us 
today to discuss your ideas. 

workplace giving
A regular, pre-tax donation straight 
from your pay is easy to setup and  
you receive tax benefits. Workplace 
giving even provides your employer  
the opportunity to match your donation 
dollar for dollar. Ask us for more 
information by calling 1800 801 633.

regular giving
Much like workplace giving, regular 
giving is a commitment to donate on a 
regular basis. This can be via a direct 
debit or credit card payment setup to 
automatically deduct on the frequency 
of your choice.
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PO box 5141 
Burnley vIC 3121

kuc@kuc.org.au
kuc.org.au

Phone (03) 9429 7444
Freecall 1800 801 633


